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On October 29th, 2009, Dubai
Financial Market (DFM)
successfully launched the state
of the art high-capacity trading
system X-Stream, known to be
one of the best trading systems
in the world’s financial markets.
The new platform is part of DFM’s
ongoing drive to stay ahead of
technological changes since its
inception in the year 2000.
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Chairman’s Statement

The year 2009 is
without doubt a year
of coherence and
attestation of DFM’s
ability to deal with
changes of any nature
and gravity.

Dear Shareholders,
My colleagues, the members of the Board, and I are pleased to present the
third Annual Report of Dubai Financial Market (PJSC), which highlights the most
important developments in your company, as well as the ﬁnancial statements of
the company for the year ending 31st of December 2009.
The year 2009 is without doubt a year of coherence and attestation of DFM’s
ability to deal with changes of any nature and gravity. Above all, it is the year of
conﬁrming the real value of the Dubai Financial Market not only having maintained
its leading position amongst the regional ﬁnancial markets, but also strengthening
this position. This was demonstrated by most of the performance indicators which
surpassed our expectations at the beginning of the year. The Dubai Financial
Market has succeeded in recording satisfactory trading activities and was able
to absorb the negative effects of the global crisis more efﬁciently than other
markets have done. While total trading value declined between 47% and 77% in
many regional markets, the decline in the Dubai Financial Market did not exceed
43%. The DFM General Index ended the year 2009 gaining more than 10% of its
level at the end 2008. In fact, by the end of the third quarter, the index recorded
a growth of over 40%, placing the Dubai Financial Market among the top ﬁve
best performing major markets globally. However, the exceptional circumstances
prevailed in the last quarter of the year, which casted some shadow on both
local and global capital markets, reduced those gains signiﬁcantly. Apart from
the General Index, the rest of the indicators, including the trading volume and

Despite the extraordinary circumstances experienced by the global economy
during the year 2009, your company has continued to focus on its strategic
objectives and has taken important strides with respect to the implementation
of ongoing development plans. The company has witnessed many outstanding
achievements, particularly the launch of the new trading system, “X-Stream”
last October. This platform is regarded as one of the best and most advanced
international electronic trading systems. This was followed in December 2009, by
the introduction of the advanced “SMARTS” system to monitor trading, further
enhancing investors’ conﬁdence in the Dubai Financial Market as an environment
characterized by efﬁciency, transparency and fairness.
Your company crowned the year 2009, a year of challenges and successes, by
a historical transaction that entitles DFM to fully acquire NASDAQ Dubai. This
development represents a key milestone in the growth of Dubai Financial Market
and allows the shareholders the opportunity to beneﬁt from future growth of
NASDAQ Dubai, the promising stock exchange. Through unifying the strengths
of DFM and NASDAQ Dubai, this acquisition enhances Dubai’s position as a
leading, attractive and competitive ﬁnancial center not only at the regional level but
at the global level as well.
Experience has once again shown the effectiveness of the pioneering model of
Dubai. Various economic sectors, including the ﬁnancial sector, showed great
ﬂexibility in weathering the global challenges, regardless of their intensity. Notably,
the inauguration of mega strategic projects in a timely manner, such as the Dubai
Metro and Burj Khalifa reafﬁrms the conﬁdence of the leadership in the exactitude
of the direction and the effectiveness of the solutions.
Undoubtedly, the afﬁrmation of His Highness Sheikh Mohammad Bin Rashid Al
Maktoum, UAE Vice President, Prime Minister and Ruler of Dubai, that

Thank you

Essa Abdul Fattah Kazim,
Executive Chairman
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The Dubai Financial Market has successfully listed 4 new securities in the past
year, including two companies, Drake and Scull International in March 2009, and
Hits Telecom of Kuwait in December 2009, along with two government bond
issues. Although the number of new listings is less than the listed securities
in the past two years (12 securities in 2008 and 16 securities in 2007), it is
still considered satisfactory when taking into consideration the exceptional
circumstances of the global and regional markets and the state of stagnation in
the IPO’s sector. In light of encouraging signs of a return of activity to the IPO’s
sector, we look forward to more new listings in 2010, thereby enhancing the
activity in the market with a positive impact on trading income.

Finally, and on behalf of the board
members and myself, allow me to
extend our sincere gratitude and
appreciation to His Highness Sheikh
Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum,
UAE Vice President, Prime Minister and
Ruler of Dubai, for his endless support
to the market. I would also like to thank
the Shari’a Board, investors and the
DFM team for their tireless efforts and
hard work to achieve the desired goals.
Without these efforts, your company
would not have seen the great success
it achieved over the last few years. This
support and these efforts are the basis
for further growth, God willing.

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

In 2009, the company posted a net proﬁt of AED 346.6 million compared to AED
605 million in the year 2008. Similarly, its income reached AED 502.9 million
compared to AED 1.01 billion in the previous year. These results exceeded the
most ambitious expectations at the beginning of the year and are considered very
satisfactory given the market environment prevailed.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

A key feature that also characterized the year 2009 was the ability of DFM, as the
preferred investment destination in the region, to maintain investors conﬁdence
across different segments and nationalities. Foreign investors injected more than
AED 1.4 billion in net buying into the Dubai Financial Market in 2009, compared to
over AED 6 billion of net selling in the previous year.

“The UAE economy will be amongst
the fastest recovering economies
globally” enhances our conﬁdence
in the future. Accordingly, we are fully
conﬁdent in the continued growth of
the national economy at a higher rate
this year, especially that the measures
the UAE has taken contributed to
absorb the negative effects of the
global crisis and put the national
economy on track for growth.

DFM Performance
in 2009

value, exceeded expectations and reﬂected positively on the overall income and
proﬁtability of the company.
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Financial Performance Summary

Due to the continued
Financial Indicators
severe impact of the
global financial crisis and
Total revenues (AED million)
the subsequent drop in
Total expenses excluding investment
trading value of 43%, the
provisions (AED million)
financial performance
Net proﬁts (AED million)
of the company was
Net proﬁts before depreciation,
affected as shown:
amortization and investment provisions

2008

2009

Change

1,013

502.9

-50%

158

156.3

-1%

605

346.6

-43%

944

433.7

-54%

8,636.4

8,220.6

-5%

Total liabilities (AED million)

385.4

197.3

-49%

Shareholders’ equity (AED million)

8,251

8,023.2

-3%

Share price

1.25

1.88

50%

Earning per share (AED)

0.08

0.04

-50%

P/E Ratio (times)

15.6

47

201%

Return on average equity (percentage)

6.8%

4.3%

-37%

Return on average assets (percentage)

6.4%

4.1%

-36%

Dividend payout ratio

105%

115%

10%

(AED million)
Total assets (AED million)
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2009

• Annual net proﬁts for the Dubai
Financial Market Company for
the ﬁscal year ending 31/12/2009
amounted to AED 346.6 million
compared to AED 605 million in
2008, a decline of 43%.
• The Board of Directors proposes
a cash dividend of 5% for 2009,
which equals to AED 397.2 million or
115% of net proﬁts. The proposed
dividend is relatively high compared
to what is announced by other
ﬁnancial companies and institutions.
It is also in line with the company’s
policy regarding the cash dividends
for the years 2008 and 2007, at 8%
(AED 635 million) and 10% (AED 794
million) respectively.
• Net proﬁts to revenues ratio stood
at 69%in 2009 compared to 60% in
2008.

2008

2009

• Total revenue of the Company in
2009 reached AED 502.9 million, a
decline of 50% from 2008 level. It is
noteworthy that the fall is due to the
decrease in trading commissions as
a result of the global ﬁnancial crisis
and the drop in investment revenue
due to the lower EIBOR rates and
the payment of cash dividends.
• Trading revenues constituted 75%
of the total revenue in 2009, while
investment revenues accounted for
18%. The remaining 7% represents
administrative revenues resulting
from “clearing, settlement and
depository”, broker services, report
fees and others.

2008

• Actual current expenses of the
company reached to AED 80.5
million in 2009 compared to
AED 82.3 million in 2008, a reduction
of 2%, while amortization expenses
of intangible assets reached
AED 75.8 million (48% of total
expenses). Employees’ related
expenses constituted 28% of
total expenses, while general and
administrative expenses contributed
to 13%, depreciation expenses to
7% and rent expenses to 4%.

Financial Performance
Summary
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2008

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

5.8

5.1

12.8

11.3

17.9
20.2

46.4
43.2

75.8
75.8

Annual
1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr Results

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Other
Administrative
Revenues

-175.7

-200

Investment
Revenues

Rent
Expenses

Trading
Revenues

Depreciation
Expenses

0

0

General &
Administrative
Expenses

100

48.6
36.7

91.5

200

80
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40
30
20
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0

Employees
Expenses

400

324.2

374.7

346.6
220.8

500

300
88.3

58.5

200

71.5

400

245.5
128.3

314.4

600

Amortization
Expenses

700

DFM Performance
in 2009

Source of market revenues (AED Million) DFM Expenses Structure

Financial Statements

Net profits (AED Million)

600

Expenses

640.2

Revenues
605

Net Profits
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On March 30th, 2010, Dubai
Financial Market (DFM) launched
the iVESTOR card, an innovative
solution designed to be the
financial link between DFM
and investors. DFM is the first
exchange in the world to pioneer
this flexible and effective solution.
The iVESTOR card will be issued at
no cost to over 30,000 investors
of DFM company shareholders
and will be used to transfer cash
dividends.
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On non- organic growth, and based on in-depth studies and consultation,
DFM made an offer in 2009 to Borse Dubai Ltd. and the NASDAQ OMX Group
Inc. to acquire 100% of NASDAQ Dubai. The aim of this transaction is to widen
DFM’s asset classes for investors, to allow the company’s shareholders to
beneﬁt from the future growth of NASDAQ Dubai, and to further develop closer
operational links between the two exchanges. This acquisition will in the long run
result in increased revenues and achieving cost efﬁciency on several levels by
adopting the same technologies and exhibiting same procedures.
A good strategy should have the ﬂexibility to be modiﬁed according to the
changing environment as long as one keeps track of the general direction and
vision towards the desired goal. In practice, the DFM business approach has
been efﬁcient and ﬂexible in coping with the ever changing world. The ability to
cope with the ongoing repercussions of the global ﬁnancial crisis, which has been
spread around the world, is the clearest proof of this. While no business sector
has stayed untouched and several companies in different sectors have been
forced to close down or to lay off employees, DFM remained intact and still made
proﬁts at the end of 2009.

Financial Performance
Summary
Strategy and Goals
Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

To that effect, DFM’s management is maintaining its continuous efforts to
enhancing the trading activities in the market in order to maximize revenues
from the traditional core business. These efforts include promoting DFM listed
companies, creating and supporting different asset classes and capitalizing on
IPO related studies with external parties to attract potential listings.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Our organic expansion stems mainly from our self aspiration for growth to fulﬁll
our goal as a public joint stock company, which distinguishes us from the rest of
the MENA region’s stock markets. Being a listed entity on our own stock market,
gives the management a great incentive to run the market in the most effective
way, particularly to better serve minority shareholders. Although this is not an easy
task and will continue to be so, yet our commitment to achieve our goals is ﬁrm.

DFM Performance
in 2009

On the way to achieving this mission, our strategy focuses on both organic
growth, that lies within our core business, and any potential non- organic growth
by expanding the scope of business through mergers and acquisitions. We
believe that the key to success is continuing investment in new technologies,
systems, equipment, human resources and, most importantly, in instigating a
well developed strategy to meet the changing demands of our everyday life. The
implementation of this strategy relies on three main pillars: motivation, innovation
and ﬂexibility.

A good strategy should
have the flexibility to
be modified according
to the changing
environment as long
as one keeps track of
the general direction
and vision towards the
desired goal.

Financial Statements

DFM’s mission has always been to be the market of choice . We want to place
ourselves ﬁrmly in the league of leading international ﬁnancial markets, and our
continuous efforts are and will remain in that direction.

Chairman’s
Statement

Strategy and Goals
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Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

The Dubai Financial
Market proved its
ability to cope with
international challenges,
regardless of their
nature or severity.

The year 2009 was exceptionally difﬁcult all over the world. Repercussions of the
ﬁnancial crisis that stormed the world in the last quarter of 2008, has spread and
spiraled to various economic sectors in all countries across the world to the extent
that, one couldn’t ﬁnd a single sector in any economy that has stayed untouched.
The year 2009 was mainly characterized by the increasing level of uncertainty, that
has directly affected the investment decisions of both individuals and institutions
who were hesitant to engage in new investments. Although the crisis severity
peaked early in the year, the continued revelations of the affected institutions
and restructuring programs designed to reform these institutions delayed the
restoration of investors’ conﬁdence. On the other hand, the tightened credit
and banks’ focus on strengthening their ﬁnancial positions and improving asset
quality, through writing off debts secured by assets whose value had deteriorated
signiﬁcantly, deprived some investors from the needed funding and increased the
hesitancy to embark on new investments.
In light of the high level of openness characterizing the UAE economy and
complex economic interrelations with the rest of world on the one hand, and the
huge capital in-ﬂows/out-ﬂows on the other, the UAE was not fully protected from
the crisis implications. Similar to the rest of the world, economic growth in the
UAE slowed down during 2009, and liquidity has contracted as a result of banks’
abstention from granting credit. In addition to the increased uncertainty related
to the global ﬁnancial crisis, UAE in general, and Dubai in particular, faced severe
additional challenges in 2009. A clear example of this is the vicious and repeated
campaigns in the international media shedding doubts on the country’s ability to
overcome the effects of the crisis and on the future of investment in the UAE.
Nevertheless, the unique business model of Dubai, proved its ﬂexibility and ability
to deal effectively with global changes regardless of their intensity.
It is noteworthy that the decline in the UAE Gross Domestic Product in real terms
did not exceed 0.7% in 2009. This decline is less than that realized in a number
of countries in the region with similar circumstances, and is much less than the
decline recorded in the economies of most major industrial countries and many
developing countries. GDP of developed countries and the new Asian industrial
countries contracted by 3.6% and 2.4% respectively. Similarly, GDP of the East
European developing countries, the Commonwealth of Independent States and
developing countries in the western hemisphere declined by 5%, 6.7% and 2.5%
respectively.
The Dubai Financial Market proved its ability to cope with international challenges,
regardless of their nature or severity, which makes it a safe haven for investment.
DFM has absorbed the negative effects of the global crisis better than other
markets did and maintained its position among the leading regional ﬁnancial
markets by registering relatively high trading activity. Despite all the unfavorable
circumstances surrounding the activity of the market in 2009, Dubai Financial
Market was able to retain investors conﬁdence, at both sector and nationality
levels, as the preferred investment destination in the region. Foreign investors
injected more than AED 1.4 billion of net investment in Dubai Financial Market in
2009 compared to net selling of more than AED 6 billion in the previous year.
The number of shares traded in Dubai Financial Market rose during 2009 by
45% above their level in 2008. Thanks to a 40% increase of the general index
up to the end of the third quarter, Dubai Financial Market was one of the top ﬁve
best performing stock markets globally. However, the unfavorable developments
in global ﬁnancial markets during the fourth quarter reduced those gains
considerably, limiting the index growth to only 10% by the end of the year.

1. The banking sector managed in 2009 to rectify the largest part of the
imbalances associated with the boom prior to the global ﬁnancial crisis through
allocating the proper provisions against bad debts, improving the quality of
assets and strengthening capital. Indications of this are: the increase in total
assets excluding provisions by 4.3%, the increase of capital adequacy ratio
from 13.3% at the end of 2008 to 19.2% at the end of 2009 and the growth
of deposits by 6.5% or almost three times the growth of the granted credit
facilities, which decreased credit/deposit ratio from 107.7% to 103.6%.
2. UAE banks opened 63 new branches in 2009. Opening such a number of new
branches in a crisis year while banks are trying to strengthen their positions,
improve asset quality, and restrict credit, reﬂects banks’ conﬁdence in the
future of economic growth in the country and that the worst is over.
3. Despite the exaggeration about restructuring and layoffs by some companies
in Dubai, ofﬁcial statistics indicate that the number of new resident visas issued
in Dubai in 2009 exceeded that number of cancelled visas by around 125
thousand visas. This is a clear evidence that Dubai has continued to be an
attractive destination for expatriates and that the restructuring activities which
took place in some companies were related to reforming these companies and
not necessarily reﬂecting the general investment and economic environment in
the Emirate.
4. The Consumer Price Index in Dubai indicates that inﬂation rate has declined
drastically from 10.8% in 2008 to 4.1% in 2009. Since low inﬂation is one
of the main fundamentals for an attractive investment environment, this
decline in inﬂation rate constitutes a qualitative addition to strengthen
the competitiveness of Dubai as a preferred destination for foreign direct
investments. This supports the optimistic outlook of economic growth in the
Emirate.

Chairman’s
Statement
Financial Performance
Summary
Strategy and Goals
Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

In fact, several international think-tanks conﬁrmed that the UAE economy is
qualiﬁed to restore growth in 2010 with a relatively high rate compared to other
economies, even though it may be less than what we experienced in the last few
years. Available indicators for 2009, shows that this outlook is not far from reality
and achievable. The following are the key indicators that support the optimistic
outlook at both the UAE and the Emirate of Dubai levels:

5. In 2009 Dubai national exports
amounted to AED 52.4 billion,
compared to AED 42.6 billion in
2008, an increase of 22.9%. Export
volume increased in 2009 by 4.3%.
This reﬂects the diversity of the
production base in the Emirate,
which enables it to overcome any
crisis that may face a particular
sector, regardless of its signiﬁcance.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Economic performance in 2009 conﬁrms that the UAE economy enjoys sound
fundamentals that enable it to ﬂexibly overcome crises with minimal losses.
The prompt response of the UAE government to the local and international
developments through the adoption of appropriate policies ensures the quick
return of the national economy to its growth path should it deviate for any reason.
The afﬁrmation of His Highness Sheikh Mohammad Bin Rashid Al Maktoum,
UAE Vice President, Prime Minister, and Ruler of Dubai that “The UAE economy
will be amongst the fastest recovering economies globally”, undoubtedly
makes us fully conﬁdent of the future. His Highness’s call for ofﬁcials in charge of
various Governmental departments in Dubai early this year to ignore the rumors
and misinformation and to continue working hard is an additional motivation for
optimism and conﬁdence in restoring the growth of our economy at a higher rate
this year.

DFM Performance
in 2009

Outlook
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On October 15th 2009, Dubai
Financial Market has organized
an interactive workshop covering
Investor relations best practices.
This initiative is the latest of
DFM’s ongoing efforts to promote
transparency and highlight the
importance of greater dialogue
between listed companies and the
investment community.

Dubai Financial Market
Annual Report 2009
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Board of Directors
Members

Title

Essa Abdul
Fattah Kazim

- Executive Chairman
- Non-Independent
Executive Member
- Vice Chairman
- Independent
Non-Executive Member
- Independent
Non-Executive Member
- Financial and
Accounting Expert

Rashid Hamad
Al Shamsi
Mohamed Hassan
Al Marzoqi

Membership in Board of
Directors Committees
- Head of the Investment
Committee
- Head of Nomination and
Remunerations Committee
- Investment Committee Member
- Head of Audit Committee

Abdulla Majid
Al Ghurair

- Independent
Non-Executive Member

- Audit Committee Member
- Nomination and Remunerations
Committee Member

Nasser Mohammed
Alshaali

- Independent
Non-Executive Member

- Nomination and Remunerations
Committee Member

Ohood Khalfan
Al Roumi

- Independent
Non-Executive Member

- Audit Committee Member
- Nomination and Remunerations
Committee Member

Soud Ba’alaway*

- Independent
Non-Executive Member

- Investment Committee Member

*The Board accepted his resignation during the board meeting held on 21/12/2009.

1. Endorsing the recommendations of
the Nomination and Remunerations
Committee, including modiﬁcations
to some of personnel-related
policies based on a study executed
by an assigned work team.
2. Endorsing the annual and quarterly
ﬁnancial statements in due course.
3. Endorsing the DFM budget for the
year 2009.
4. Endorsing the General Assembly’s
agenda, including the proposed
cash dividends.
5. Endorsing procurement and
service contracts that lies within the
authorities of the board of directors.
6. Endorsing the recommendations
of the Investment Committee that
manages the company’s portfolio
including capital investments.
7. Endorsing the recommendations of
the Audit Committee that supports
the Board in approving the ﬁnancial
statements and reviewing the
internal control systems.
8. The acquisition of NASDAQ
Dubai, which was one of the major
resolutions of the Board of Directors
in 2009.

Financial Performance
Summary
Strategy and Goals
Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

The ﬁrst Board of Directors was elected during the statutory general meeting of
the company held on 16/1/2007, for a duration of 3 years. The following table
shows the board members and their membership of the Board of Directors’
Committees.

Having full quorum, the Board of
Directors held in 2009 six meetings
on the dates: 2/3/2009, 5/4/2009,
29/4/2009, 16/7/2009, 28/10/2009,
and 21/12/2009. All the meetings
coincided with the disclosure of
either the ﬁnancial statements or
any important information that could
affect the share price of the company.
In compliance with transparency
requirements, the company was keen
to adhere to the disclosed meeting
agenda and to announce the results of
the Board Meeting promptly. The most
important resolutions of these meetings
are:

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Formation of the Board of Directors

Board of Directors

DFM Performance
in 2009

Since its inception, the Dubai Financial Market Company has voluntarily applied
corporate governance rules and institutional discipline standards to protect the
interests of different investor categories. These rules have been under constant
revision in light of the standards required by the Securities and Commodities
Authority (SCA) in this regard and their amendments in accordance with the
Ministerial Decree No. 518 of 2009 on Governance Controls and Institutional
Standards of Discipline, to ensure they are up to the international standards and
the requirements of the above mentioned ministerial decree and SCA.
In compliance to these standards, the following are the formation of the Board
of Directors, the committees emanating from the board, a summary of the
resolutions of the Board and Committees, the remuneration policy of the Board,
and the internal control system.

Board of Directors and
Committees’ Meetings
in 2009

Financial Statements

Governance

Chairman’s
Statement

DFM Achievements in 2009
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DFM Achievements in 2009

The Nomination and
Remunerations Committee
Although SCA’s regulations on
governance rules requires only one
meeting per year for such a committee,
the Nomination and Remunerations
Committee held two meetings on
2/6/2009 and 17/9/2009. Based on
a study executed by a consulting
company, the committee discussed
employees fringe beneﬁts, as well
as some personnel related policies
and recommended the necessary
amendments, which were approved by
the Board of Directors, such as leave
policy.

The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee held 6 meetings
on 19/2/2009, 25/2/2009, 28/2/2009,
16/7/2009, 28/10/2009, and
20/12/2009, exceeding the minimum
4 meetings required by the SCA. The
Committee discussed several topics
including:
1. Review and endorsement of the
annual and quarterly ﬁnancial
statements.
2. Review of the ﬁnancial statements
related disclosures and compliance
to accounting standards.
3. Review the adequacy of the Internal
Control Department’s team and
their qualiﬁcations.
4. Reviewing with the external auditor
the auditing plan for 2009 regarding
ﬁnancial auditing, the auditing of
internal control systems, information
systems and the compliance of the
executive management with the
external auditor requirements.
5. Review the internal control and
other auditing units remarks and
the response of the executive
management to these remarks as
well as the corrective and preventive
measures taken.
6. Reviewing the 2009 work plan for
the Internal Control Department, its
achievements and key performance
indicators.

7. Reviewing the questionnaire prepared by the Internal Control Department to
evaluate the management and the measures of continuous development and
improvement of the services provided by the units subject to the audit.

The Investment Committee
Although such a committee is not required by the SCA, the company decided to
form this important committee to oversee the management of investment portfolio
in accordance to authorization assigned by the board. The committee held two
meetings in 2009, on 16/7/2009 and 28/10/2009 to discuss ﬁnancial and capital
investments, as well as the feasibility studies prepared by the designated team.

The External Auditor
Upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee, and the approval of the
General Assembly that was held on 5/4/2009, Deloitte & Touch Company was
appointed as an external auditor for 2009 at a cost of AED 170 thousand. The
duties assigned to the external auditor include auditing the annual and quarterly
ﬁnancial statements. To ensure the independence of the external auditor, the Audit
Committee excluded Deloitte & Touch from providing any other services to the
Company.

Internal Control
The Internal Control Department has been established since the inception of the
Dubai Financial Market. When DFM was transformed into a public joint stock
company, the status of the department has been modiﬁed to accommodate the
corporate governance standards. The Internal Control Department reports directly
to the Board of Directors through the Audit Committee. The main objectives of the
department are:
1. To ensure the accuracy, integrity and compatibility with international
accounting standards of the ﬁnancial reports prepared for internal and external
use.
2. To ensure the performance integrity of the various departments and sections.
3. To ensure the achievement of the goals set by the senior management in an
efﬁcient and cost effective manner.
4. To ensure compliance with the laws and regulations in effect in UAE especially
those related to the ﬁnancial market, as well as the policies and internal rules
of the company and corporate governance.
The Internal Control Department prepared the annual audit plan for 2009 based
on the volume of work of each business unit, the previous audit reports, the
potency of internal controls, and the available auditing resources. The audit plan
which has been revised and approved by the Audit Committee on 23/12/2008,
was prepared to cover all DFM business units and their key performance
indicators. The department completed 17 audits in 2009 including Financial
Management, Human Capital, (Clearing, Settlement and Depository) and (Listing
and Disclosure). Information Technology Audit was assigned to the Financial
and Audit Department of Dubai. All auditing reports were discussed with the
audited units before submitting them to the Audit Committee. The department

Human Capital
The Human Capital Department achieved distinctive performance in 2009. The
department continued to develop employees performance through providing
them with the needed training. Special attention has been dedicated during 2009
to keeping the pace of nationalizing jobs and offering training opportunities for
students. The following are the main achievements in this regard during the year
2009.

1. Training and Development:
Dubai Financial Market continued its approach of providing its staff with the
necessary training to enhance their capabilities and efﬁciency. Fifty four employees
had beneﬁted from 1300 hours of training in 2009 through more than 30 training
courses, workshops or conferences held in the United Arab Emirates or abroad.
One of the successful training programs in 2009 is that designed for the Call
Centre staff, which noticeably improved the performance of the Centre, raising the
ratio of answered calls to a record of 98.4%.

2. Recruitment
Contrary to the case of several companies in UAE who tended to lay-off some of
their employees in 2009, the new Organizational Structure helped DFM to create
several job opportunities. Accordingly, the number of DFM employees rose by 5%
in 2009 as a result of recruiting a number of distinctive qualiﬁed employees who
enjoy a second to none expertise in ﬁnancial markets, to maintain the position of
the Dubai Financial Market as one of the leading ﬁnancial markets in the region.

The training program includes a
series of courses and workshops
especially designed to develop the
capabilities of the students enabling
them to identify the labor market
needs. By interacting with experts in
the ﬁnancial market, students learn
to identify the interrelation between
practical and theoretical aspects of
their education. Within this framework,
the training program was enhanced
by an additional educational week
that provides the students with a clear
idea about goals and visions of Dubai
Financial Market, the functioning of
stock markets, and the procedures of
listing companies on the market.
Students participating in the training
program receive a monthly ﬁnancial
rewards ranging between AED 2500
and 3000, in addition to Certiﬁcates of
Appreciation. A feedback questionnaire
is distributed at the end of each
program to evaluate how the trainees
beneﬁted from the course.
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Aiming at educating the younger
generations about the professional
life and labor market and to prepare
them for future responsibilities, DFM
organized the Summer Training
Program of 2009. More than 20
students participated in this program,
which saw them trained in the various
departments and brokerage ﬁrms as
well. This was in addition to training 18
students from different universities and
colleges as part of practical training
requirements.

Strategy and Goals

The company also received 82 complaints, most of them are related to brokerage
ﬁrms, whether submitted directly by investors or through the electronic complaints
system of Dubai government, compared to 89 complaints in 2008. All the
complaints were transferred to the concerned unit to be tackled, where 65
complaints have been solved during 2009. Unless the nature of some complaints
needs longer time-frame, the complaints ofﬁce in DFM ensures that any complaint
should be processed and solved no longer than one week.

4. Summer Training for
University Students

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

In 2009, the company was accredited with the quality control ISO 9001:2000
Certiﬁcate, and is currently improving the system in order to apply the
updated ISO 9001:2008 quality standards. The senior management team held
several meetings during the year that focused on the company goals, project
development, and follow-up on the implementation of these projects. Throughout
the year the department reviewed 151 staff suggestions and adopted the
constructive ones. The suggestions concentrated on the development of services,
simplifying procedures, and policies reform.

Dubai Financial Market is characterized
by an attractive work environment for
UAE nationals, who constituted 72%
of the company’s staff. The ratio is one
of the highest targets by institutions
operating in the country.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Institutional Excellence

3. Nationalizing Jobs

DFM Performance
in 2009

also coordinated with the external auditor and other regulatory bodies.
Furthermore, the department has carried out several special tasks beyond the
scope of the work plan including the revision of certain employment policies and
recommending the necessary amendments.
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Financial Management

The Shari’a Board

Dubai Financial Market is committed
to preparing its ﬁnancial statements in
accordance with the rules and laws in
effect, and ensures to keep up to date
with the most developed international
accounting standards and have
its ﬁnancial statements and reports
mirroring such standards to serve the
interests of shareholders and other
clients. In adhering to the principles of
transparency, the company discloses
all annual audited and interim reviewed
ﬁnancial statements and submits them
to all concerned parties within the legal
deadline.

The most important achievement by the Shari’a Board in 2009 was to publish the
English translation of the Standard for Owning and Trading of Shares. Following
the same methodology of preparing the Standard for Owning and Trading of
Shares, the board has studied the issuance of Standard for Owning and Trading
of Sukuk (Islamic Bonds), which is expected to be approved and published in
2010, after discussing it in a special hearing session.

In coordination with the Market
Operations Division, the Financial
Management Department enhanced
its accounting system in 2009, as
well as strengthened the ﬁnancial
control systems in order to cut down
costs and increase efﬁciency. The
company also internally prepared
several specialized professional
ﬁnancial studies, in order to develop
the administrative and investment
reporting systems. These studies
aimed at helping senior management
in decision-making and ensuring the
effective management of cash ﬂow, the
best utilization of this cash, and fulﬁlling
its cash dividends and commitments
towards the suppliers. The company
distributed the cash dividends in 2009
in a timely manner.

Throughout the year, the Board provided DFM with lists of Shari’a compliant
companies, based on the latest ﬁnancial statements available at the end of each
quarter. The board also monitored market activities to ensure its compliance with
Shari’a rules and issued fatwas on the enquiries submitted to it.
To organize and facilitate its activities, the Board proposed to DFM management
the establishment of an independent unit. The proposed unit, which will function
under the supervision of the Board’s executive member, should include a legal
expert, a ﬁnancial analyst, and a Shari’a observer. The unit’s responsibilities
should include:
1. Receiving information about companies listed and applying the standards
approved by the Shari’a Board to decide on the legitimacy of owning and
trading in their shares.
2. Receiving fatwa requests from the DFM and compiling the information related
to them in preparation for submission to the Shari’a Board.
3. Receiving information on new DFM investments, as well as the information
necessary to decide on their legitimacy in preparation for submission to the
Board to decide on the said investments legitimacy.
4. Taking all the necessary steps prior to proceeding with DFM new investments,
including structuring, documentation, and obtaining approval of the Shari’a
Board.
5. Providing consultancy services to the DFM-listed companies and other entities
that would like to beneﬁt from such services regarding utilizing the Islamic
ﬁnance instruments and products under the supervision of the Shari’a Board.

Market Development
The Market Development Division executed in 2009 a series of interactive
initiatives aiming at achieving the strategic objectives of The Dubai Financial
Market to deepen and strengthen the securities market. The initiatives targeted
various market participants including the listed companies, the potential
companies to be listed, ﬁnancial consultancy companies and other parties in local
and international ﬁnancial markets. The following are the main initiatives:

First: Market Enhancement and Strengthening
As part of the DFM strategy to increase trading volumes in the medium and long
term, the company intensiﬁed its efforts aiming at raising the number of listed
securities and attracting more investors to the market. The main achievements in
this regard are:

Second: Development of the Best Regulatory Practices
In light of Dubai Financial Market’s strategy and its leading role in applying the best
practices by market participants, the Market Development Division continued in
2009 to develop tools and initiatives to support the listed and potential companies
in addition to investors and brokers. The main achievements in this regard are:
1. Publishing “The Guide to Going Public” which is a directory for transformation
into a public joint stock company, in order to provide more transparency for
companies looking forward to go public. The fact that this guide covers all
aspects related to transition into a public shareholding company in a practical
step by step way distinguishes it from previous publications. This directory
which was launched in a seminar attended by representatives of more than 60
of the leading advisory ﬁrms, investment banks and accounting and auditing
ﬁrms, has been received with a great deal of interest.
2. In 2009, the Dubai Financial Market organized an educational workshop for
listed companies seeking to develop investor relations. The workshop has

Third: Enhancing Transparency and
Disclosure
The Dubai Financial Market continued
its strategy to adopt the best practicies
of disclosure at the global level. The
total number of disclosures in 2009
reached a record of 1805, an annual
increase of 30%. Listed companies
showed a 100% commitment to
disclose their quarterly and annual
ﬁnancial statements within the legal
timeframe. In order to enhance the
levels of transparency among the
listed companies, the Dubai Financial
Market commissioned an in-depth
study to determine the disclosure best
practices in light of the needs of listed
companies. As a result, the company
initiated the ﬁrst steps to adopt an
electronic disclosure system scheduled
for completion in 2010.
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3. The Dubai Financial Market continued its efforts aiming at promoting available
investment opportunities. The Borse Dubai International Investor Conference
New York 2009, which witnessed the ﬁrst participation by companies listed
on NASDAQ Dubai, is the most distinctive effort in this regard. This event saw
the organization of more than 273 meetings between 116 of fund managers
and institutional investors in New York on the one hand, and representatives
of 15 companies listed on the Dubai Financial Market and the NASDAQ Dubai
on the other. In addition to this conference, and in cooperation with some of
the listed companies, DFM has participated in several investor conferences
organized by major ﬁnancial services companies. Based on the great success
achieved by the previous conferences and in light of DFM’s commitment
to strengthen the relationship between listed companies and investors, the
company plans to organize more roadshows on both the regional and global
levels in 2010.

3. The Dubai Financial Market
laid the foundation for a close
partnership with several institutions
to support the implementation
of best practices among market
participants. The Dubai Financial
Market was the ﬁrst stock
exchange to sign a memorandum
of understanding with the Institute
of Corporate Governance
“Hawkamah” and the Middle East
Investor Relations Society. These
two initiatives aimed at organizing
joint marketing and educational
programs for the listed companies.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

2. The Dubai Financial Market continued its tireless efforts to attract new initial
offerings in 2009. The market listing team took the initiative to prepare a
comprehensive study on the initial public offerings (IPO) sector in cooperation
with independent consultants. As Dubai Financial Market is seeking to
beneﬁt from the IPO market in the future, this study has covered more than
500 companies in the UAE in order to identify the top one hundred potential
companies for IPO’s. It is scheduled to complete this comprehensive study this
year and to prepare a marketing plan in 2011 based on its results.

attracted over 80 senior ofﬁcials
of DFM listed companies. More
workshops are planned for 2010,
including a workshop on corporate
governance.

DFM Performance
in 2009

1. Four new securities were listed on the Dubai Financial Market in 2009.
This includes the initial offering of Drake and Scull International, and HITS
TELECOM of Kuwait, while the other two securities are local bond issues.
The listing of Drake and Scull International, the contracting services company
established in the UAE in 1966, represents a qualitative addition to the real
estate and construction sector while the listing of HITS TELECOM, the ﬁrst non
UAE telecom company to join DFM, enhances the telecommunications sector
in the exchange. These listings raised the total number of listed securities to 88
including 66 public joint stock companies. The number of Kuwaiti companies
listed on DFM increased to 17 companies, which reafﬁrms the leading position
of DFM as the market of choice at the regional level.
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Product Development

electronic environment including the companies guide, in addition to monthly,
quarterly, and annual bulletins.

In order to promote investment
awareness among market participants
and to establish the principles of
transparency and disclosure, the
Product Development Division
continued in 2009 to issue periodic
reports on the trading activities in the
market and the performance of the
listed public shareholding companies.
The Market issued The Public Joint
Stock Companies Guide that includes
important information on the listed
companies classiﬁed by their business
activities, number of shareholders,
nationalities, legal advisors and auditors
and the ﬁnancial statements for the
last four years including shareholders’
equity, assets and liabilities, proﬁtability
and cash ﬂow as well as the most
important ﬁnancial ratios and
indicators.

In 2009 the Market also organized the annual DFM stock game . This competition
is one of the initiatives and programs carried out by the market reﬂecting its
commitment to social responsibility and eagerness to develop the capabilities
of future generations. In its previous seven rounds, the competition attracted
10000 students from 40 educational institutions. The 2009 round witnessed a
new qualitative addition by organizing three specialized workshops on technical
analysis in cooperation with Mac Sharaf Securities. These workshops attracted
more than 1000 students.

In the context of enhancing liquidity
and increasing trading volumes, the
Dubai Financial Market endeavors to
list new ﬁnancial instruments, including
Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs). The
exchange has taken the ﬁrst steps
to list the ﬁrst investment fund in
coordination with several entities,
as well as with SCA. Based on a
comprehensive study, the exchange
proposed to SCA to allow the trading
in right issues. Trading in right issues
helps protecting shareholders’ rights,
especially for those who defer from
using their right to subscribe, or
those who don’t have the needed
liquidity to subscribe. Partially or fully
selling of right issues provides such
investors with additional liquidity.
Furthermore, allowing the trading
in rights issues will increase trading
volumes, enhance liquidity and creates
new income sources. The Division
continued to provide international and
local institutions and organizations
including the Arab Monetary Fund and
the Dubai Statistics Centre with data
and information on the market activity
regularly. The division also transformed
the market publications into the

Clearing, Settlement and Depository

Within the same direction, DFM approved the introduction of the new program
“Borsati”, aiming at nurturing of a new generation that enjoys a high level of
awareness and knowledge of ﬁnancial services and investment. This project will
include the opening of a new educational trading ﬂoor at the Dubai College of
Technology for Men, preparing an educational compact disk (CD) about stock
markets, organizing specialized workshops and seminars and encouraging
educational visits to the market.
Several meetings with investors were held to discuss means of developing the
relationship between DFM and investors and exploring their needs, especially the
ones related to the new trading system and trading ﬂoor boards. All their requests
were met in cooperation with other divisions.

The number of Clearing, Settlement and Depository transactions carried out in
DFM during 2009 reached to 86 thousand transactions. Fees accrued from these
transactions amounted to AED 9.8 million, compared to AED 28.7 million in 2008.
The following table shows the number of transactions that took place in the Dubai
Financial Market by type.
Type of Transaction
Family Transfers
Inheritance Transfers
Other Transfers
Pledged Securities
Fines on Brokers
Post Trading Corrections
Securities Balance Statement
Other Transactions
Total

No. of Transactions
6,530
793
2,428
147
92
89
3,263
72,653
85,995

As part of its drive to develop its distinctive services to investors, the Clearing,
Settlement, and Depository Division upgraded the electronic reporting system
in 2009. The upgraded system enables investors to get accurate, varied and
immediate information as well as updated data on their securities balance
accounts and their movements. Through the new system investors can
electronically submit their requests for the Clearing, Settlement, and Depository
Division services, where each investor will have a username and user number to
access the electronic clearing service that provides electronic reports and forms.
The division also prepared a user guide for the electronic clearing system which
contains all the procedures and action steps related to listed companies and

Capacity
50,000 orders (150 per second)
250,000 transactions (50 per second)
Identiﬁes more than 100 indicators
200 lines
200 lines

In addition to its high efﬁciency, the new trading system is highly transparent
as it shows the actual prices submitted by buyers and sellers during the preopening session, rather than price averages. The system shows all orders placed
by traders (market depth) and executes these orders ﬂexibly and efﬁciently. The
system also enables the trading in new ﬁnancial instruments such as ExchangeTraded Funds (ETFs).
DFM organized training sessions for over 200 trading managers representing 98
brokerage ﬁrms, in addition to this, key personnel from the brokerage ﬁrms were
trained as ‘super users’ who could then train their colleagues internally. Moreover,
the company organized Q&A sessions to resolve any queries that arose from the
brokerage ﬁrms and distributed a user guide for the system.
DFM has fully implemented electronic trading, in accordance with the Circular No.
(12) of 2008. The following table shows total electronic trading in 2008 and 2009:

Buy Value
Sell Value
Total Trading Value

2008
Value in
AED (Billion)
152.0
162.2
305.2

%
49.8%
53.1%

2009
Value in
AED (Billion)
117.1
122.6
173.5

%
67.4%
70.7%

Market Surveillance
The launching of the new surveillance system “SMARTS”, is one of the most
prominent achievements of DFM in 2009. The system is one of the best market
surveillance technologies implemented in the leading ﬁnancial markets including
the London Stock Exchange, Euronext Paris and Dubai International Financial

On the other hand, 92% of complaints
received by DFM In 2009 were
resolved, indicating the effectiveness
of communicating with participants in
terms of follow-up, responding to their
complaints, and taking their views and
comments into account.

Brokers Affairs
In cooperation with NASDAQ Dubai
Academy, DFM organized more than
19 training courses and educational
seminars for brokers. These courses
covered various aspects of capital
markets including risk management,
equity derivatives and ﬁnancial
analysis, to provide the attendees
with comprehensive knowledge of the
market methodology in line with best
services standards with respect to the
justice and integrity of trading.
On the other hand, 52 brokers were
licensed out of 127 candidates under
the laws, regulations, and rules of
conduct related to the qualifying
test for brokers. As they are the link
between the Market and the clients,
personal interviews were held with the
prospective brokers to ascertain their
technical and professional knowledge
that enables them to use the systems
and programs applied at the Dubai
Financial Market, guarantee the
integrity of the transactions and protect
the rights of investors.
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Features
Number of orders per session:
Number of transactions per session:
Number of Indicators
(MDF) Connectivity
(FIX) Connectivity

Macroeconomic Developments
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In 2009, DFM launched the highly advanced trading platform “X-Stream” which
is considered one of the best trading systems globally. Launching this system
represents a new qualitative step on the modernization and development drive
by DFM, the ﬁrst regional market in the Gulf area to deploy this system. The new
system is highly efﬁcient and accurate as it allows the execution of 50 transactions
per second effectively and easily. To ensure its full readiness as well as the
readiness of the brokerage ﬁrms, the system has been tested through more than
62 testing sessions, in which brokers were trained on this advanced system to
efﬁciently handle clients requests. The following table shows the main features of
the system:

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Market Control

Centre. SMARTS is an automated
system that detects any possible
manipulations or market abuse
and alerts the user immediately.
Launching this system represents a
new development on DFM’s drive for
innovation and development in order to
achieve an efﬁcient and fair market with
transparency and the optimal utilization
of resources serving and protecting the
rights of market participants efﬁciently.
The system monitors and prevents
manipulation through analyzing data of
such manipulations, submitting instant
reports on them to the management
and adopting related procedures and
decisions in coordination with the
Securities and Commodities Authority.

DFM Performance
in 2009

custodian banks. In addition, a “NIN Number Operation” agreements were signed
with all custodians in the market to issue investor numbers, aiming at facilitating
the process of issuing an investor number for licensed custodian’s clients.
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The Guide to going public, which
was launched in June 2009, is
considered to be one of the major
initiatives of Dubai Financial
Market. This publication is a step
by step comprehensive guide for
companies planning to go public,
as it highlights the benefits of
taking private companies to the
public arena, demonstrating some
of the successful cases in this
sector.
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Amid this atmosphere of ambiguity and high level of
uncertainty, the Dubai Financial Market was able to
adapt and cope with the repercussions of the crisis
with high flexibility and efficiency that enabled it to
restore the confidence of investors and maintain
its esteemed position amongst the regional and
international financial markets. The following is a
summary of the Market performance in 2009.

DFM Performance
in 2009

This volatility was mainly due to continued spread
of the global financial crisis repercussions, the lack
of clarity regarding the extent of actual damage
to the global economy and, consequently, lack of
concrete projections regarding the future economic
growth across the world.

Financial Statements

The performance of financial markets around the
world have seen volatility in 2009, in terms of both
stock prices and trading volumes.
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General Index
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The Dubai Financial Market General
index recorded an increase of 10.2%
at the end of 2009 to reach 1804
points compared to 1636 points at the
end of 2008. It is noteworthy that this
percentage of growth does not reﬂect
the full picture of the true developments
witnessed in the Dubai Financial Market
Index throughout 2009, as the index
has far exceeded the abovementioned
growth rate at certain times of the
year. After the drop in the index at
the beginning of the year reaching its
lowest level at 1433.14 points on the
ﬁfth of February, it started its upward
trend, which continued despite some
periodic setbacks, until it reached its
highest level at 2373.37 points on the
14th of October, recording an increase
of 45% from its level at the end of
2008. This impressive increase put the
Dubai Financial Market on the list of the
top ﬁve best performing markets on
the global level at the time, before the
index lost much of its gains as a result
of unfavorable developments later in
the year. In terms of daily changes, the
highest daily increase by 10.4% was
recorded on the 14th of December
2009, while the biggest drop of 7.3%
was on the 30th of November 2009.

At the individual level, price changes of the listed companies showed a wide disparity
in 2009. While the share price of Gulfa Mineral Water Company rose by 153.4%, the
share price of the Gulf Finance House Company declined by 92.3%. The table below
shows the top ﬁve gainers and losers in terms of share prices in 2009.
The top five gainers and losers in terms of share prices in 2009 (prices in AED)
Gainers
Company
2008
2009
% Change
2.21
5.60
153.4%
Gulfa Mineral Water
0.87
1.57
80.5%
Aramex
2.26
3.86
70.8%
Emaar Properties
Grand Real Estate Projects Company
1.00
1.70
70.0%
0.99
1.68
69.7%
Dar Al-Takaful
Losers
2008
2009
% Change
Company
13.90
1.07
-92.3%
Gulf Finance House
7.23
1.25
-82.7%
Global Investment House
5.41
0.99
-81.7%
Al Madina for Finance and Investment
Gulf General Investments
5.45
1.10
-79.8%
263.77
91.00
-65.5%
Mashreq Bank
The market capitalization of shares listed on the Dubai Financial Market registered
a drop of 8.4% in 2009 to AED 213.4 billion compared to AED 232.9 billion at
the end of 2008. This is mainly due to the decline in market value of Non-UAE
companies listed on the market.
Market Cap. by Sector
Utilities 0.5%
Transportation 12.1%
Telecommunications 5.9%

Real Estate 20.1%

Banks 25.4%
Consumer Staples 0.5%
Investments 17.3%

Materials 13.6%

Insurance 4.7%

Investments 18.4%

Insurance 4.1%
Materials 0.002%

The value of traded shares of the top ﬁve actively traded companies reached
to AED 118.6 billion, constituting about 70% of the total market trading value.
Emaar Properties came at the forefront of these companies at 27.6%, followed by
Arabtec and Dubai Financial Market Company, at 15.8% and 14% respectively.
On the other hand, the number of traded shares of the top ﬁve most actively
traded companies reached to 63 billion shares, or more than 55% of the total
number of shares traded on the market in 2009. The Dubai Financial Market
Company came at the forefront with respect to the number of traded shares
where its shares formed 13% of the total shares traded, followed by Emaar
Properties at 12.9%, and then Arabtec and Drake and Scull at 10.9% each.
Top Five Most active Companies by Trade Value and No. of Shares
Trade Value (AED Million)
Number of Shares (Million)
Company
Value
(%) of
Company
No. of
Total
shares
47,839
27.6% Dubai Financial
14,444
Emaar
Market
Arabtec
27,375
15.8% Emaar
14,259
24,281
14.0% Arabtec
12,023
Dubai Financial
Market
10,749
6.2%
Drake and Scull
12,009
Drake and Scull
Air Arabia
8,397
4.8%
Deyaar
10,307

(%) of
Total
13.0%
12.9%
10.9%
10.9%
9.3%

DFM Achievements
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Real Estate 57.7%

Banks 7.3%
Consumer Staples 0.005%

DFM Performance
in 2009

Utilities 2.1%
Transportation 9.6%
Telecommunications 0.7%
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The value of shares traded in 2009 reached to AED 173.5 billion, compared to
AED 305.2 billion in 2008, with a decline of 43.2%. The average daily value of
traded shares decreased from AED 1.2 billion in 2008 to AED 694 million in 2009.
Contrary to what some may think, this decrease in the value of traded shares was
not a result of investors refraining to trade in shares following the global ﬁnancial
crisis, but it is mainly due to the drop in the average share price in 2009 compared
to that of previous year. This is supported by the fact that the number of shares
traded rose in 2009 by 45%. At the sector level, it is noted that the real estate and
construction sector has dominated the trading in 2009, where the value of traded
shares of that sector constituted 58% of the total trade value, followed by the
investment and ﬁnancial services sector at 18%, and the transport and banking
sectors at 10% and 7% respectively.

Chairman’s
Statement

Traded Shares Value

20

Financial Performance
Summary

Dubai Financial Market
Annual Report 2009

21

Dubai Financial Market
Annual Report 2009

DFM Performance in 2009

Comparison to Arab
Financial Markets
The value of traded shares in stock
exchanges of GCC, Amman and Cairo
recorded a decrease of 33.8% in 2009.
The value of traded shares in these
markets collectively amounted to US$
670.5 billion in 2009, compared to
US$ 1012 billion in 2008. Although
the decrease in the value of traded
shares was noted across all these
markets, the most severe drop was
in the Bahrain Stock Exchange, at
77%, followed by Abu Dhabi Securities
Exchange at 70%. The least decline
in the value of traded shares was at
the Cairo Stock Exchange at 21.6%,
while the Dubai Financial Market came
in ﬁfth place with a decline of 43.2%,
which is an average ranking among the
nine regional markets. The Saudi Stock
Market dominated the trading activity
in the above mentioned markets at
60.3% of total trade value, followed by
the Kuwait Stock Exchange at 11.8%,
while DFM came fourth at 7% of total
trading. The market share of Bahrain
and Muscat Stock Exchanges was
minimal.

Value of Traded Shares in Main Arab Stock Exchanges (US$ million)
2008
2009
(%) Change
548,786
404,026
-26.4%
Saudi Stock Exchange
134,310
79,349
-40.9%
Kuwait Stock Exchange
96,879
75,931
-21.6%
Cairo Stock Exchange
Dubai Financial Market
82,935
47,149
-43.2%
48,207
25,283
-47.6%
Doha Stock Exchange
62,997
18,931
-70.0%
Abu Dhabi Securities
Exchange
Amman Stock Exchange
27,116
13,403
-50.6%
8,710
5,948
-31.7%
Muscat Stock Exchange
2,062
474
-77.0%
Bahrain Stock Exchange
Total
1,012,002
670,494
-33.8%

(%) of Total
60.3%
11.8%
11.3%
7.0%
3.8%
2.8%
2.0%
0.9%
0.1%
100.0%

Foreign Investment
The Non-UAE buying value on the Dubai Financial Market in 2009 amounted to
AED 69.9 billion constituting 40.3% of the total trade value, while their sell value
amounted to AED 68.5 billion constituting 39.5% of the total trade value. As a
result, foreign investors were net buyers of AED 1.4 billion in 2009 compared to
being net sellers of AED 6 billion in 2008. The Jordanians came in the forefront
among the non-UAE investors on DFM in terms of the value of traded shares,
where their total trading in 2009 amounted to AED 24.8 billion or 17.8% of
total non-UAE trading. Egyptians came second at 12.2%, followed by Britons
at 10.8%. In terms of net investment, Britons came in the forefront of nonUAE investors, with net investments of AED 287 million or 20.5% of net foreign
investments. They were followed by the Saudis in second place at 10.4%, and the
Palestinians and Syrians at 8.6% and 7.8% respectively.
Most Active Trading Non-UAE Nationalities in 2009
(Values in AED Millions)
Nationality
Buying
Selling
value
value
12,447
12,381
Jordan
8,590
8,545
Egypt
7,700
7,413
Britain
5,250
5,105
Saudi Arabia
Palestine
4,407
4,286
4,228
4,119
Syria
3,418
3,360
Lebanon

Total
trading
24,828
17,135
15,113
10,355
8,693
8,347
6,778

Net
investment
65
46
287
145
121
109
58
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Net Foreign Investments (AED Million)
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340
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200

155
108

100
0

Institutional investment
The buying value of institutional investors on DFM in 2009 amounted to AED 35.7
billion, constituting 20.6% of the total trade value, while their sell value reached
to AED 35.5 billion or 20.5% of the total trade value. Consequently, institutional
investors were net buyers by only AED 177.4 million.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Net Institution Investments (AED Million)
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these ﬁnancial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the ﬁnancial statements are free from material misstatement. An audit involves
performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the ﬁnancial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the ﬁnancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the ﬁnancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the ﬁnancial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufﬁcient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the ﬁnancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the ﬁnancial position of
Dubai Financial Market (DFM) - PJSC, Dubai, United Arab Emirates as of December 31, 2009, and
its ﬁnancial performance and its cash ﬂows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Also, in our opinion, the Company has maintained proper books of account. We obtained all
the information and explanations which we considered necessary for our audit. According to
the information available to us, there were no contraventions during the year of the UAE Federal
Commercial Companies Law No. 8 of 1984, as amended, or of the Company’s Articles of Association
which might have materially affected the ﬁnancial position of the Company or the results of its
operations for the year.

Financial Performance
Summary

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these ﬁnancial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
ﬁnancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

Strategy and Goals

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

We have audited the accompanying ﬁnancial statements of Dubai Financial Market (DFM) - PJSC, (the
“Company”), Dubai, United Arab Emirates, which comprise the statement of ﬁnancial position as at
December 31, 2009, and the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of
changes in shareholders’ equity and statement of cash ﬂows for the year then ended, and a summary
of signiﬁcant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Report on the Financial Statements

Chairman’s
Statement

Ref.:10343FS09-Dec

DFM Performance
in 2009

THE SHAREHOLDERS
DUBAI FINANCIAL MARKET (DFM) - PJSC
DUBAI
UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

Anis F. Sadek
(Reg. No. 521)

Dubai
March 2, 2010
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Statement of Financial Position
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2009
(IN THOUSAND ARAB EMIRATES DIRHAMS)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank balances
Islamic investment deposits
Prepaid expenses and other receivables
Due from a related party
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Islamic investment deposits
Other ﬁnancial assets - Available for sale (AFS)
Other ﬁnancial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Total non-current assets
Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Payables and accrued expenses
Dividends payable
Due to a related party
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity
Deferred income - Government grant
Total non-current liabilities
Total Liabilities
Shareholders’ Equity
Share capital
Treasury shares
Net initial public offering surplus
Investments revaluation reserve - AFS
Investments revaluation reserve - FVTOCI
Statutory and other reserves
Retained earnings
Total Shareholders’ Equity

Note

2009

2008

5
6&13
7
13

33,462
1,482,292
26,680
3,914
1,546,348

95,547
1,572,049
33,644
4,551
1,705,791

6
8&2

38,527
-

944,366

8&2
9
10
11

1,003,793
29,932
2,723,092
2,878,874
6,674,218
8,220,566

308,377
2,798,946
2,878,874
6,930,563
8,636,354

12
13 & 18
13

22,415
123,140
48,500
194,055

34,119
20,165
48,500
102,784

14
9 & 13

3,279
3,279
197,334

2,578
280,000
282,578
385,362

15 (a)
15 (b)

8,000,000
(55,864)

8,000,000
(55,864)

7,944,136
31,608
(1,163,469)
239,120
971,837
8,023,232

7,944,136
31,608
(974,754)
613,374
636,628
8,250,992

8,220,566

8,636,354

16
17
17
17

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these ﬁnancial statements.

The ﬁnancial statements on pages 3 to 46 were approved and signed by the Chairman, on behalf of the Board of Directors,
on March 2, 2010.
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Income Statement

20
10

Net proﬁt for the year
21

640,209
21,018
20,538
7,111

405,878
91,510
5,541

688,876
263,214
-

(80,460)
(75,854)

61,044
(82,309)
(75,854)

-

(250,000)

346,615

604,971

0.04

0.08

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these ﬁnancial statements.

Financial Statements

DFM Performance
in 2009

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Earning per share - AED

374,738
20,785
5,672
4,683

Financial Performance
Summary

19

2008

Strategy and Goals

Operating income
Net investment revenue
Other income
Gain from revaluation of investments in
marketable securities held for trading
General and administrative expenses
Amortization of intangible assets
Impairment loss for available for sale investments

2009

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

Note
Revenues
Trading commission fees
Brokerage fees
Ownership transfer and mortgage fees
Other fees

Chairman’s
Statement

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009
(IN THOUSAND ARAB EMIRATES DIRHAMS)
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009
(IN THOUSAND ARAB EMIRATES DIRHAMS)

2009

2008

346,615

604,971

61,285
-

(1,265,720)
250,000

-

(147,587)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

61,285

(1,163,307)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

407,900

(558,336)

Note
Net proﬁt for the year
Other comprehensive income
Gain on revaluation of investments measured at FVTOCI
Loss on revaluation of AFS investments
Impairment of AFS investments transferred
to income statement
Transfer out from reserve of sales of AFS investments

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these ﬁnancial statements.

-

-

Net proﬁt for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transfer to statutory reserve
Dividends declared (Note 18)
Transfer of reserves to retained earnings
(Note 18)

(55,864)

-

31,608

Financial Statements

DFM Performance
in 2009

DFM Achievements
in 2009

-

-

-

-

31,608

-

31,608

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Strategy and Goals

(1,163,469)

-

-

61,285

61,285

(1,224,754)

974,754 (1,224,754)

(974,754)

-

188,553
(1,163,307)
(1,163,307)

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

-

31,608
-

Net initial Investments Investments
public offer- revaluation revaluation
ing surplus reserve AFS
reserve
FVTOCI

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these ﬁnancial statements.

8,000,000

(55,864)

8,000,000

Balance at December 31, 2009

-

-

-

(55,864)

8,000,000

-

-

-

(55,864)
-

8,000,000
-

Treasury
shares

Balance at December 31, 2008
Effect of the change in accounting policy
for classiﬁcation and measurement of
ﬁnancial assets - IFRS 9 (Note 2)
Balance at January 1, 2009 - restated

Balance at December 31, 2007
Net proﬁt for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Transfer to statutory and other reserves
(Note 17)
Dividends declared

Share
capital

613,374

Total

971,837

408,916

(34,662)
(635,660)

346,615

346,615
-

886,628

250,000

636,628

(794,576)

(181,491)

Chairman’s
Statement

8,023,232

-

(635,660)

407,900

346,615
61,285

8,250,992

-

8,250,992

(794,576)

-

1,007,724 9,603,904
604,971
604,971
- (1,163,307)
604,971
(558,336)

Retained
earnings

Financial Performance
Summary

239,120

(408,916)

34,662
-

-

-

613,374

-

-

-

181,491

-

431,883
-

Statutory
and other
reserves
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Statement of Changes
in Shareholders’ Equity

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009
(IN THOUSAND ARAB EMIRATES DIRHAMS)
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Statement of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009
(IN THOUSAND ARAB EMIRATES DIRHAMS)

2009

2008

346,615

604,971

11,327
957
75,854
237
(688)
(85,205)
(5,600)

12,877
735
75,854
250,000
2,022
(130,465)
(61,044)
(5)
(104,656)
(28,093)

Operating proﬁt before changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in prepaid expenses and other receivables
Decrease/(increase) in due from a related party
Decrease in payables and accrued expenses

343,497
(1,736)
637
(11,704)

622,196
13,649
(2,313)
(254,713)

Cash generated from operations
Employees’ end of service indemnity paid

330,694
(256)

378,819
(115)

Net cash generated from operating activities

330,438

378,704

Cash ﬂows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of other ﬁnancial assets
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Purchases of other ﬁnancial assets
Purchase of property and equipment
Net Islamic investment (deposits)/proceeds
Revenue received from Islamic investments deposits
Dividend received

2,546
(12,882)
(652,988)
93,154
6,114

976,645
5
(1,355,905)
(10,266)
437,753
112,068
27,580

(564,056)

187,880

(532,685)

(774,411)

(532,685)

(774,411)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(766,303)

(207,827)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year

1,105,547

1,313,374

339,244

1,105,547

Cash ﬂows from operating activities
Net proﬁt for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property and equipment
Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity
Amortization of intangible assets
Impairment loss of available for sale investment
Provision for doubtful accounts expense
Gain on sale of available for sale investments
Gain from revaluation of investment in marketable securities held for trading
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Return on Islamic investment deposits
Dividend income

Net cash (used in)/ generated from investing activities
Cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing activities
Dividends paid to shareholders
Net cash used in ﬁnancing activities

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year (Note 22)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these ﬁnancial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements

Dubai Financial Market (DFM) - PJSC (the “Company”) is a public joint stock company incorporated in the Emirate of
Dubai – United Arab Emirates, pursuant to decree No. 62 issued by the Ministry of Economy on February 6, 2007,
and is subject to the provisions of the UAE Federal law No. 8 for the year 1984 and its amendments.
The licensed activities of the Company are trading in ﬁnancial instruments, acting as commercial, industrial and
agricultural holding and trust company, ﬁnancial investment consultancy, and local and foreign shares and bonds
brokerage. In accordance with its Articles of Association, the Company complies in all its activities, operations and
formalities with the provisions of Islamic Sharia’a and shall invest its entire fund in accordance with these provisions.
The Company currently operates the Dubai stock exchange (DFM), related clearing house and carries out investment
activities on its own behalf.
The registered address of the Company is Dubai World Trade Center, Sheikh Zayed Road, P.O. Box 9700, Dubai.

Financial Performance
Summary

1. Establishment and operations

Chairman’s
Statement

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments (IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures)
The amendments to IFRS 7 expand the disclosures required in respect of fair value measurements and liquidity risk. The
Company has elected not to provide comparative information for these expanded disclosures in the current year in accordance
with the transitional reliefs offered in these amendments.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The Company has adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) in 2009 in advance of its effective date. The Company
has chosen December 31, 2009 as its date of initial application (i.e. the date on which the Company has assessed its
existing ﬁnancial assets) as this is the ﬁrst reporting period end since the Standard was issued on November 12, 2009.
The Standard has been applied retrospectively and the Company has chosen the limited exemption not to restate
comparative information in the year of initial application which resulted to:
• Comparative information for prior periods was not restated. The classiﬁcation and measurement requirements
previously applied in accordance with IAS 39 and disclosures required in the IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
were retained.
• The Company disclosed the accounting policies for both periods, one applying IFRS 9 (current period) and one
applying IAS 39 (prior periods).
• The difference between the previous carrying amount and the carrying amount at the beginning of the annual
reporting period that includes the date of initial application were recognised in the opening retained earnings (or other
component of equity, as appropriate).
IFRS 9 speciﬁes how Company should classify and measure its ﬁnancial assets. It requires all ﬁnancial assets to be
classiﬁed in their entirety on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the ﬁnancial assets and the contractual
cash ﬂow characteristics of the ﬁnancial assets. Financial assets are measured either at amortised cost or fair value.

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

IAS 1 (as revised) Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 1(2007) has introduced terminology changes (including revised titles for the ﬁnancial statements) and changes in the format
and content of the ﬁnancial statements.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current period and have affected
the disclosure in these ﬁnancial statements.

DFM Performance
in 2009

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards
Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported in the current period (and/or prior periods)

Financial Statements

The shares owned by Dubai Government are registered in the name of Borse Dubai Limited, the parent company.

Strategy and Goals

The ultimate parent and controlling party is Government of Dubai.
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Notes to the financial statements - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

Debt instruments are measured at amortised cost only if:
(i) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash ﬂows;
and
(ii) The contractual terms of the ﬁnancial asset give rise on speciﬁed dates to cash ﬂows that are solely payments
of principal and proﬁt on the principal amount outstanding.
If either of the two criteria is not met the ﬁnancial instrument is classiﬁed as at fair value through proﬁt or loss (FVTPL).
Additionally, even if the asset meets the amortised cost criteria the Company may choose at initial recognition to
designate the ﬁnancial asset as at fair value through proﬁt or loss if doing so eliminates or signiﬁcantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
Only ﬁnancial assets that are classiﬁed as measured at amortised cost are tested for impairment.
Investments in equity instruments are classiﬁed and measured as at fair value through proﬁt or loss except if the equity
investment is not held for trading and is designated by the Company as at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVTOCI). If the equity investment is designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income, all
gains and losses, except for dividend income recognised in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and are not subsequently reclassiﬁed to income statement.
The directors have reviewed and assessed all of the Company’s existing ﬁnancial assets as at the date of initial
application of IFRS 9. As a result:
• all of the Company’s equity investments have been designated as at FVTOCI.
The impact of adopting IFRS 9 has been a reversal of unrealized losses from investment revaluation reserve - AFS to
investment revaluation reserve - FVTOCI of AED 974 million as result of reclassifying as at January 1, 2009 available for
sale investments to ﬁnancial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. This reclassiﬁcation has
also resulted in a reversal of impairment losses, previously recognized in the income statement from retained earnings
to investment revaluation reserve - FVTOCI for an amount of AED 250 million.
As IFRS 9 was early adopted this year, the cumulative changes in fair value of available for sale investments of
AED 1,163 million was not tested for impairment but transferred to investment revaluation reserve - other comprehensive
income as allowed by IFRS9.
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IFRS 8
Operating Segments
(as revised in 2007)

This standard requires disclosure of information about the Company’s operating
segments and replaced the requirement to determine primary (business) and secondary
(geographical) reporting segments of the Company.

IAS 23 (as revised in 2007) Borrowing
Costs

The principal change to the Standard was to eliminate the option to expense all borrowing
costs when incurred. This change has had no impact on these ﬁnancial statements.

IAS 20 Accounting for Government
Grants and Disclosure of Government
Assistance

IAS 20 has been amended to require that the beneﬁt of a government loan at a belowmarket rate of interest be treated as a government grant. This change has had no impact
on these ﬁnancial statements.

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements
(Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation)

The revisions to IAS 32 amend the criteria for debt/equity classiﬁcation by permitting
certain puttable ﬁnancial instruments and instruments (or components of instruments)
that impose on an entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro-rata share of the
net assets of the entity only on liquidation, to be classiﬁed as equity, subject to speciﬁed
criteria being met.

IAS 40 Investment property

IAS 40 has been amended to include within its scope investment property in the course of
construction.

IAS 38 Intangible Assets

IAS 38 has been amended to state that an entity is permitted to recognise a prepayment
asset for advertising or promotional expenditure only up to the point at which the entity
has the right to access the goods purchased or up to the point of receipt of services.
These ammendments have no affect on entity’s ﬁnancial performance or ﬁnancial position.

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded
Derivatives and IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement (Embedded Derivatives)

Amendments to IFRIC 9 and IAS 39 require entities to assess whether to separate an
embedded derivative from a host contract in the case where the entity reclassiﬁes a
hybrid ﬁnancial asset out of the fair value through proﬁt or loss category. The amendments
to IFRIC 9 require an assessment to be made either when the entity ﬁrst became party to
the contract or when a change in the terms of the contract signiﬁcantly modiﬁes expected
cash ﬂows. The amendments are applicable for annual periods ending on or after 31
December 2009. The application of the amendment is not expected to have a signiﬁcant
impact on the Company’s ﬁnancial statements.

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

The application of the amendment is not expected to have a signiﬁcant impact on the
Company’s ﬁnancial statements as the Company has no customer loyalty programmes.

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the
Construction of Real Estate

The Interpretation addresses how entities should determine whether an agreement for the
construction of real estate is within the scope of IAS 11 Construction Contracts or IAS 18
Revenue and when revenue from the construction of real estate should be recognised.
The requirements have not affected the accounting for the Company’s construction
activities.

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in
a Foreign Operation

The Interpretation provides guidance on the detailed requirements for net investment
hedging for certain hedge accounting designations.

Financial Performance
Summary

The amendments clarify the deﬁnition of vesting conditions for the purposes of IFRS 2,
introduce the concept of ‘non-vesting’ conditions, and clarify the accounting treatment for
cancellations.

Strategy and Goals

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment (Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations)

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

The amendments deal with the measurement of the cost of investments in subsidiaries,
jointly controlled entities and associates when adopting IFRSs for the ﬁrst time and with
the recognition of dividend income from subsidiaries in a parent’s separate ﬁnancial
statements.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards and IAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements (Cost of an Investment in a
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate)

DFM Performance
in 2009

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have also been adopted in these ﬁnancial statements. Their
adoption has not had any signiﬁcant impact on the amounts reported or the disclosure in these ﬁnancial statements but
may affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

Financial Statements

Standards and Interpretations adopted with no effect on the ﬁnancial statements

Chairman’s
Statement

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009
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Notes to the financial statements - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted
At the date of authorization of these ﬁnancial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations were in issue but
not yet effective:
IFRS 3
Business Combinations

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009

IFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010

IAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010

IAS 17
Leases

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010

IAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009

IAS 28
Investments in Associates

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009

IFRIC 17
Distributions of Non-cash Assets to
Owners

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009

IFRIC 18
Transfers of Assets from Customers

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009

IFRIC 19
Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2010

Amendment to IFRIC 14, IAS 19
The limit on a deﬁned Beneﬁt Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirement and their
interaction

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations will not have a signiﬁcant impact on the
presentation and disclosures of the Company’s ﬁnancial statements.
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Chairman’s
Statement
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3. Signiﬁcant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identiﬁed and recognised separately from goodwill where they
satisfy the deﬁnition of an intangible asset and their fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible
assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets are amortised so as to write off their cost over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method as follows:
License to operate as a Stock Exchange
Relationship with market participants (Brokers)
Historical trading database

50 years
10 years
5 years

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a company or any entity represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Company’s interest in the net fair value of the identiﬁable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or
jointly controlled entity recognised at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is
subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Company’s cash-generating units expected
to beneﬁt from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated ﬁrst to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Strategy and Goals

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost
of the business combination over the Company’s interest in the net fair value of the identiﬁable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Company’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identiﬁable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is
recognised immediately in proﬁt or loss.

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the business
combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred
or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Company in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs
directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identiﬁable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Business combinations

DFM Performance
in 2009

The ﬁnancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain non-current
assets and ﬁnancial instruments at fair value. The principal accounting policies are set below:

Financial Statements

Basis of preparation

Financial Performance
Summary

The ﬁnancial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
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Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
Trading commission fees, ownership transfer and mortgage fees are recognized on the date of transaction in the market.
Brokers’ license fees are recognised on the date of granting the license and are recognised on a life time proportion
basis.

Dividend
Dividend revenue from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established.

Return on Islamic investment deposits
Return on Islamic investment deposits are recognised based on the expected minimum rate of return speciﬁed in the
investment agreement on time proportion basis, and reconciled to actual on maturity date.

Operating leases
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in proﬁt or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Lease incentives are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expenses over the term of the lease.

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in currencies other than the Company’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates
of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
Exchange differences are recognised in proﬁt or loss in the period in which they arise except for:
• exchange differences which relate to assets under construction for future productive use, which are included in the
cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs on foreign currency borrowings;
• exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and
• exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement
is neither planned nor likely to occur, which form part of the net investment in a foreign operation, and which
are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve and recognised in proﬁt or loss on disposal of the net
investment.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.
Government grants whose primary condition is that the Company should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire noncurrent assets are recognised as deferred income in the balance sheet and transferred to proﬁt or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related building cost.

Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, except for land which is stated at fair value, less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment loss.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets other than work-in-progress and land, over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset.
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Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity
Provision for expatriates employees’ end of service indemnity is made in accordance with the U.A.E. labour laws, and is
based on current basic remuneration and cumulative years of service at the balance sheet date.

Deﬁned contribution plan
U.A.E. National employees in the United Arab Emirates are members of the Government-managed retirement pension
and social security beneﬁt scheme. As per Federal Labour Law No. 7 of 1999, the Company is required to contribute
15% of the “contribution calculation salary” of U.A.E. payroll costs to the retirement beneﬁt scheme to fund the beneﬁts.
The employees are also required to contribute 5% of the “contribution calculation salary” to the scheme. The only
obligation of the Company with respect to the retirement pension and social security scheme is to make the speciﬁed
contributions. The contributions are charged to the income statement for the period.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it
is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision
is measured using the cash ﬂows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash ﬂows.
When some or all of the economic beneﬁts required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Financial Performance
Summary
Strategy and Goals

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in income statement, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash ﬂows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reﬂects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks speciﬁc to the asset, for which the estimates of future cash ﬂows have not been
adjusted.

DFM Performance
in 2009

At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identiﬁed, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest Company of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identiﬁed.

Financial Statements

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

Chairman’s
Statement

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009
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Financial instruments (applying IFRS 9 – current period)
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
Date of recognition
All ﬁnancial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of a ﬁnancial asset is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the ﬁnancial asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned.

Classiﬁcation and initial measurement of ﬁnancial instruments
For the purposes of classifying ﬁnancial assets an instrument is an ‘equity instrument’ if it is a non-derivative and meets
the deﬁnition of ‘equity’ for the issuer (under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation). All other non-derivative ﬁnancial
assets are ‘debt instruments’.
Financial assets are classiﬁed into the following categories: ‘ﬁnancial assets measured at amortized cost’, ‘ﬁnancial
assets measured at fair value through proﬁt or loss’, and ‘ﬁnancial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income’.
All the ﬁnancial instruments are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those ﬁnancial assets
classiﬁed as at fair value through proﬁt or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.
Financial assets at amortized cost and the effective interest method
Debt instruments are measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:
• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash ﬂows;
and
• the contractual terms of the instrument give rise on speciﬁed dates to cash ﬂows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
Debt instruments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs (except if they are
designated as at fair value through proﬁt or loss – see below). They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment (see below), with interest revenue recognised on an effective yield basis
in interest income.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company is required to reclassify debt instruments from amortised cost to fair value
through proﬁt or loss, if the objective of the business model changes so that the amortised cost criteria are no longer
met.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
The Company may irrevocably elect at initial recognition to classify a debt instrument that meets the amortised cost
criteria above as at fair value through proﬁt or loss, if that designation eliminates or signiﬁcantly reduces an accounting
mismatch had the ﬁnancial asset been measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss (FVTPL)
Debt instrument ﬁnancial assets that do not meet the amortised cost criteria described above, or that meet the criteria
but the entity has chosen to designate as at fair value through proﬁt or loss at initial recognition, are measured at fair
value through proﬁt or loss. The Company has not designated a debt instrument ﬁnancial asset as ﬁnancial assets at fair
value through proﬁt or loss.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company is required to reclassify debt instruments from fair value through proﬁt
or loss to amortised cost if the objective of the business model changes so that the amortised cost criteria starts to be
met and the instrument’s contractual cash ﬂows meet the amortised cost criteria. Reclassiﬁcation of debt instruments
designated as at fair value through proﬁt or loss at initial recognition is not permitted.
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Investments in equity instruments are classiﬁed as at fair value through proﬁt or loss, unless the Company designates an
investment that is not held for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) at initial recognition
(see below).

Chairman’s
Statement

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

Investments in equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially measured at fair value
plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. Fair value is
determined in the manner described in Note 25. Where the asset is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassiﬁed to income statement, but is reclassiﬁed to retained
earnings.
Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in income statement when the Company’s right to
receive the dividends is established in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue.

Reclassiﬁcation of ﬁnancial assets
The ﬁnancial assets are required to be reclassiﬁed if the objective of the Company’s business model for managing those
ﬁnancial assets changes. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent. The Company determines these changes by
the Company’s Board of Directors as a result of external or internal changes and must be signiﬁcant to the Company’s
operations and demonstrable to external parties.
If the Company reclassiﬁes ﬁnancial assets, it shall apply the reclassiﬁcation prospectively from the reclassiﬁcation date.
Any previously recognised gains, losses or interest are not required to be restated.
If the Company reclassiﬁes a ﬁnancial asset so that it is measured at fair value, its fair value is determined at the
reclassiﬁcation date. Any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous carrying amount and fair value is
recognised in income statement.
If the Company reclassiﬁes a ﬁnancial asset so that it is measured at amortised cost, its fair value at the reclassiﬁcation
date becomes its new carrying amount.
The reclassiﬁcation day is the ﬁrst day of the ﬁrst reporting period following the change in business model that results in
an entity reclassifying ﬁnancial assets.

Strategy and Goals

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identiﬁed ﬁnancial instruments that the Company manages together and
has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term proﬁt-taking; or
• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument or a ﬁnancial guarantee.

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

A ﬁnancial asset is held for trading if:

DFM Achievements
in 2009

At initial recognition, the Company can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments as at fair value through other comprehensive income. Designation at fair value through
other comprehensive income is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading.

DFM Performance
in 2009

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

Financial Statements

Dividend income on investments in equity instruments at fair value through proﬁt or loss is recognised in income
statement when the Company’s right to receive the dividends is established in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue.

Financial Performance
Summary

Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on
remeasurement recognised in income statement. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 25.
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Financial assets (applying IAS 39, before amendment to IFRS 9 relating to ﬁnancial instruments)
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
Date of recognition
All ﬁnancial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of a ﬁnancial asset is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the ﬁnancial asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned.

Initial measurement of ﬁnancial assets
Financial assets are classiﬁed into the following speciﬁed categories: ‘ﬁnancial assets at fair value through proﬁt or
loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) ﬁnancial assets and ‘loans and receivables’.
The classiﬁcation depends on the nature and purpose of the ﬁnancial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition.
All the ﬁnancial instruments are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those ﬁnancial assets
classiﬁed as at fair value through proﬁt or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.

Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Financial assets are classiﬁed as at fair value through proﬁt or loss when the ﬁnancial asset is either held for trading or it is
designated as at fair value through proﬁt or loss.

Financial assets held for trading
A ﬁnancial asset is classiﬁed as held for trading if:
• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identiﬁed ﬁnancial instruments that the Company manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term proﬁt-taking; or
• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets designated as at fair value through proﬁt or loss
A ﬁnancial asset other than a ﬁnancial asset held for trading may be designated as at fair value through proﬁt or loss
upon initial recognition if:
• such designation eliminates or signiﬁcantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise
arise; or
• the ﬁnancial asset forms part of a group of ﬁnancial assets or ﬁnancial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Company’s documented risk management or
investment strategy; or
• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at fair value
through proﬁt or loss.
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on
remeasurement recognised in proﬁt or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in proﬁt or loss incorporates any dividend or
interest earned on the ﬁnancial assets.

Held to maturity ﬁnancial investments
Held-to-maturity ﬁnancial investments are non-derivative ﬁnancial assets with ﬁxed or determinable payments and ﬁxed
maturities, which the Company has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial measurement, held-to-maturity
ﬁnancial investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment, with
revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.
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Dividends on available for sale equity instruments are recognised in income statement when the Company’s right to
receive the dividends is established.
The fair value of available for sale monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. The foreign exchange gains and losses that
are recognised in income statement are determined based on the amortised cost of the monetary asset.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables include non-derivative ﬁnancial assets with ﬁxed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market, and include cash and cash equivalents, Islamic deposits, other receivables and due from related
parties.
After initial measurement, amounts are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate, less
allowance for impairment.

Impairment of ﬁnancial assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through proﬁt or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the ﬁnancial asset, the estimated future cash ﬂows of
the investment have been affected.
For listed and unlisted equity investments classiﬁed as available for sale, a signiﬁcant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of the security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
For all other ﬁnancial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:
• signiﬁcant ﬁnancial difﬁculty of the issuer or counterparty; or
• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or ﬁnancial re-organisation.

Available for sale ﬁnancial investments
When an available for sale ﬁnancial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassiﬁed to income statement in the period. Impairment losses in respect of
available for sale equity securities, previously recognised in proﬁt or loss are not reversed through proﬁt or loss. Any
increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Financial Performance
Summary
Strategy and Goals

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income in the investments
revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method,
and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets, which are recognised in income statement. Where the
investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investments revaluation reserve is reclassiﬁed to proﬁt or loss.

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

Listed shares and other securities held by the Company that are traded in an active market are classiﬁed as available for
sale. After initial measurement, available for sale ﬁnancial investments, are subsequently measured at fair value.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Available for sale ﬁnancial investments

DFM Performance
in 2009

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the ﬁnancial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial Statements

Effective interest method

Chairman’s
Statement
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Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Company
Classiﬁcation as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classiﬁed as either ﬁnancial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangement.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Other ﬁnancial liabilities
Other ﬁnancial liabilities are initially measured at fair value net of transaction cost and subsequently measured at
amortised cost.

Derecognition of ﬁnancial liabilities
The Company derecognises ﬁnancial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or expired.

4. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements,
management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying Company’s accounting policies
The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that management has made
in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have the most signiﬁcant effect on the amounts
recognised in ﬁnancial statements.

Classiﬁcation of investments
Upon adoption of IFRS 9, the Company’s management has decided to reclassify the Company’s investments into
ﬁnancial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.
The management reclassiﬁed its available for sale investments in equity instruments to ﬁnancial assets measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Investments that were reclassiﬁed to ﬁnancial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are those considered by management to be strategic equity investments that are
not held to beneﬁt from changes in their fair value and are not held for trading.

Valuation of unquoted equity investments
Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on recent market transactions on an arm’s length basis, fair
value of another instrument that is substantially the same, expected cash ﬂows discounted at current rates for similar
instruments or other valuation models.

Impairment of assets values
At each balance sheet date, the management reviews the assets’ values to determine that their book values have not
exceeded amounts recoverable from them. The management estimates the recoverable amount of various assets
individually or based on the cash generating unit to which the individual asset belongs.
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Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to
which goodwill has been allocated. In management’s view, as Dubai Financial Market’s only cash generating unit is at
the Company level, comparing the fair value minus cost to sell (Market Cap) of the Company to the carrying value of its
net assets in total will provide a good indication of whether any impairment has occurred is appropriate for impairment
testing.

Depreciation of property and equipment
The cost of property and equipment is depreciated over its estimated useful life, which is based on expected usage of
the asset, expected physical wear and tear, which depends on operational factors. The management has not considered
any residual value as it is deemed immaterial.

Allowance for doubtful debts
At each balance sheet date, the management conducts a detailed review of receivable balances, an allowance for
doubtful debts is established based on this review, management experience and prevailing economic conditions.

5. Cash and bank balances

Cash on hand
Bank balances:
Current accounts
Saving accounts
Mudarabah accounts

2009
AED’000

December 31
2008
AED’000

42

28

1,075
2,505
29,840
33,462

661
1,401
93,457
95,547

The rate of return on the Mudarabah accounts are between 1% and 2% (2008: 1.75% to 3%) per annum.

Strategy and Goals

Impairment of goodwill

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

Management has estimated the initial components of the intangible assets which arose from the business acquisition of
Dubai Financial Market on January 1, 2007 based on an evaluation prepared by independent valuers. Management has
estimated the useful lives of the intangible assets based on analysis of relevant factors relating to the expected period
over which the intangible assets are expected to generate cash inﬂows to the company in the foreseeable future.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Intangible assets

DFM Performance
in 2009

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
balance sheet date, that have a signiﬁcant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next ﬁnancial year.

Financial Statements

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Financial Performance
Summary

Chairman’s
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6. Islamic investment deposits

Current:
Islamic investment deposits (Mudarabah) maturing in less than 3 months
from the date of deposit (Note 22)
Islamic investment deposits maturing in more than 3 months from the date
of deposit but before December 31, 2010
Non-current:
Islamic investment deposits maturing after December 31, 2010

2009
AED’000

December 31
2008
AED’000

305,782

1,010,000

1,176,510

562,049

1,482,292

1,572,049

38,527
1,520,819

1,572,049

As per the investment agreements, returns on these investments range from 3.75% to 7%
(2008: 6% to 7.75% per annum).

7. Prepaid expenses and other receivables

Accrued revenue on Islamic investment deposits
Accrued trading commission fees
Due from brokers
Prepaid expenses
Other receivables
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts

2009
AED’000

December 31
2008
AED’000

14,827
2,129
5,467
2,957
3,559
28,939
(2,259)
26,680

23,289
1,836
4,556
2,820
3,165
35,666
(2,022)
33,644

Accrued trading commission fees are collected within two working days from the trading date. Accrued revenue from
Islamic investments deposits are collected on the due date of the proﬁt as set in the contractual agreements with the
ﬁnancial institution.
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944,366

The Company has opted to early adopt IFRS 9 which has resulted in a change to the Company’s accounting policy
for its classiﬁcation and measurement of ﬁnancial instruments. This change in accounting policy has been applied
retrospectively and as permitted by IFRS 9, the Company elected not to restate the comparative amounts (refer to Note 2).
Investments by geographic concentration are as follows:

Within U.A.E.
Outside U.A.E.

2009
AED’000

December 31
2008
AED’000

889,764
114,029
1,003,793

830,200
114,166
944,366

Following the amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7, “Reclassiﬁcation of Financial Assets”, issued in October 2008 by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the Company reclassiﬁed certain Investments held for trading (“HFT”)
to available for sale (“AFS”). The Company identiﬁed assets, eligible under the amendments, for which at July 1, 2008,
it had a clear change of intent to hold for the foreseeable future rather than to exit or trade in the short term. Under IAS
39 as amended, the reclassiﬁcations were made with effect from July 1, 2008 at fair value at that date. As the Company
has adopted IFRS 9 in 2009 and applied the standard retrospectively for classiﬁcation and measurement of its ﬁnancial
assets, these amendments to IAS 39, do not apply to the Company.

Financial Performance
Summary

265,726
738,067
1,003,793
1,003,793

Strategy and Goals

700,917
243,449
944,366

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

-

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Financial assets - FVTOCI
Investment in equity securities
Managed funds

December 31
2008
AED’000

DFM Performance
in 2009

Financial assets - Available for sale
Managed funds
Investment in equity securities

2009
AED’000

Financial Statements

8. Other ﬁnancial assets

Chairman’s
Statement

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

45

Dubai Financial Market
Annual Report 2009

Notes to the financial statements - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

9. Property and equipment
Land at fair
Computers
value and information system

Cost or fair value
At December 31, 2007
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
At December 31, 2008
Additions
Transfers
Grant transferred back
(see below)
At December 31, 2009
Accumulated depreciation
At December 31, 2007
Charge for the year
Eliminated on disposal
At December 31, 2008
Charge for the year
At December 31, 2009
Carrying amount
At December 31, 2009
At December 31, 2008

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture &
ofﬁce
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Work-inprogress

Total

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

280,000
280,000
(280,000)

51,914
5,886
(900)
525
57,425
6,569
3,467
-

10,702
283
(1,438)
1,438
10,985
281
-

9,971
491
(506)
177
10,133
50
415
-

285
(33)
252
-

5,788
3,606
(2,140)
7,254
5,982
(3,882)
-

358,660
10,266
(2,877)
366,049
12,882
(280,000)

-

67,461

11,266

10,598

252

9,354

98,931

-

30,449
9,807
(704)
39,552
9,262
48,814

8,571
1,106
(269)
9,408
872
10,280

6,664
1,951
(144)
8,471
1,182
9,653

262
13
(34)
241
11
252

-

45,946
12,877
(1,151)
57,672
11,327
68,999

280,000

18,647
17,873

986
1,577

945
1,662

11

9,354
7,254

29,932
308,377

Property and equipment other than work-in-progress and land are depreciated over their estimated useful lives of
4 years.
In 2007, Government of Dubai (ultimate controlling party) granted the Company a plot of land to construct new premises.
The land is not yet registered in the name of the Company and was recorded by the Company at its fair value.
During the year ended December 31, 2009, management has conﬁrmed that the conditions attached to the Government
Grant have not been met and accordingly the value of the land of AED 280 million and related deferred income of
AED 280 million were reversed.
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2,824,455
2,824,455

58,743
58,743

67,456
67,456

2,950,654
2,950,654

Amortization
As at December 31, 2007
Charge for the year
As at December 31, 2008
Charge for the year
As at December 31, 2009

56,489
56,489
112,978
56,489
169,467

5,874
5,874
11,748
5,874
17,622

13,491
13,491
26,982
13,491
40,473

75,854
75,854
151,708
75,854
227,562

2,654,988
2,711,477

41,121
46,995

26,983
40,474

2,723,092
2,798,946

2009
AED’000

December 31
2008
AED’000

8,000,000
(2,170,472)
(2,950,654)
2,878,874

8,000,000
(2,170,472)
(2,950,654)
2,878,874

2009
AED’000

December 31
2008
AED’000

830
6,464
6,648
8,473
22,415

15,465
2,166
7,225
9,263
34,119

Carrying amount
At December 31, 2009
At December 31, 2008

11.Goodwill

Cost of acquisition of Dubai Financial Market
Fair value of assets acquired
Fair value of identiﬁable intangible assets
Value of goodwill recognized

12.Payables and accrued expenses

Brokers’ deposits
Due to U.A.E. Securities and Commodities Authority
Unearned revenue
Accrued expenses and other payables

Financial Performance
Summary

AED’000

Strategy and Goals

AED’000

Fair value
As at December 31, 2008
As at December 31, 2009

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

Total

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Historical trading
database

DFM Performance
in 2009

License to operate Relationships with
as a Stock market participants
Exchange
(Brokers)
AED’000
AED’000

Financial Statements

10.Intangible assets
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13.Related party transactions
The Company enters into transactions with companies and entities that fall within the deﬁnition of a related party as
contained in International Accounting Standard 24: Related Party Disclosures. Related parties comprise companies
under common ownership and/or common management and control and key management personnel.
At the balance sheet date, due from/to a related party were as follows:

Due from a related party - Parent company
Borse Dubai Limited – Islamic investment deposits
Borse Dubai Limited - current account
Due to a related party - Ultimate parent
Dubai Government
Borse Dubai Limited - dividends payable
Government grants at fair value booked as deferred income Government grant (Note 9)

2009
AED’000

December 31
2008
AED’000

140,000
3,914

4,551

48,500
99,000

48,500
-

-

280,000

As per the initial public offering prospectus, 20% of the share capital amounting to AED 1,600,000,000 was offered for
public subscription for the credit of Dubai Government. This amount was deposited in the Company’s bank accounts
and subsequently transferred to Dubai Government, with the exception of the balance of AED 48.5 million which remains
as due to the Dubai Government.
During the year 2007, Government of Dubai (ultimate controlling party) granted the Company a plot of land to construct
new premises. Formal title of this land had not yet been transferred to the Company. The land was valued during the
year 2007 for an amount of AED 280 million by Dubai Property L.L.C. which was treated as deferred income and was
to be transferred to proﬁt or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related building cost.
During the year ended December 31, 2009, management has conﬁrmed that the conditions attached to the Government
Grant have not been met and accordingly the value of the land of AED 280 million and related deferred income of
AED 280 million were reversed.
The nature of signiﬁcant related party transactions and amounts involved were as follows:
Year ended December 31
2009
2008
AED’000
AED’000
Proﬁt on investment deposits - Borse Dubai Limited
Rent and service expense - Dubai World Trade Center

11,310
5,767

5,100

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:
Year ended December 31
2009
2008
AED’000
AED’000
Short-term beneﬁts
General pension and social security
Board remuneration

4,409
568
-

9,881
552
1,971
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a) The Company’s share capital comprises of 8 billion shares of AED 1 per share. The founding shareholder, the Dubai
Government, subscribed in kind for all the 8 billion shares through transferring the ownership of the assets, liabilities
and the operations, rights and obligations of Dubai Financial Market (a wholly owned entity of the Dubai Government),
as a going concern, to the Company. The total value transferred was assessed by an independent valuer for a total
amount ranging between AED 7.219 billion and AED 8.151 billion as of December 31, 2005.
Subsequently 20% of the Company’s share capital was sold by the Dubai Government through a public offering of 1.6
billion shares.
b) The Company subscribed for 54,236,831 shares of its own shares for a total cost of AED 1.03 per share which
includes incorporation expenses. The Company is planning to use these shares to acquire NASDAQ OMX, Dubai
(refer to Note 27).
The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right for ﬁxed income.

16.Net initial public offering surplus
Initial public offering fees collected (AED 0.03 for each share)
Less: Incorporation expenses incurred
Surplus taken to equity during 2007

AED’000
48,000
(16,392)
31,608

Financial Performance
Summary

15.Share capital

Strategy and Goals

1,958
735
(115)
2,578

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

2,578
957
(256)
3,279

DFM Achievements
in 2009

2008
AED’000

DFM Performance
in 2009

Balance beginning of the year
Charged during the year
Paid during the year
Balance at end of the year

2009
AED’000

Financial Statements

14.Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity
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17.Statutory and other reserves

Balance as of December 31, 2007
Transfer from net income for the year
Balance as of December 31, 2008
Transfer from net income for the year
Transfer to retained earnings (Note 18)
Balance as of December 31, 2009

Statutory reserve
AED’000

Special reserve
AED’000

General reserve
AED’000

Total
AED’000

143,961
60,497
204,458
34,662
239,120

143,961
60,497
204,458
(204,458)
-

143,961
60,497
204,458
(204,458)
-

431,883
181,491
613,374
34,662
(408,916)
239,120

Statutory reserve
In accordance with UAE Federal Companies Law Number 8 of 1984, as amended, the Company has established a
statutory reserve by appropriation of 10% of its net proﬁt for each year until the reserve equals 50% of the share capital.
This reserve is not available for distribution, except as stipulated by the Law.

Special reserve
As per the Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the Company’s annual net proﬁt is to be allocated to special
reserve until this reserve reaches 50% of the paid up capital.
During the year, the shareholders resolved to stop allocation to the special reserve (refer to Note 18 for further details)
and to transfer the accumulated balance to retained earnings.

General reserve
As per the Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the Company’s annual net proﬁt is to be allocated to general
reserve until this reserve reaches 20% of the paid up capital.
This appropriation may be stopped by a Resolution of an Ordinary General Meeting in pursuance of the suggestion of the
Board of Directors, or if it reaches the amount of 20% of the paid up capital of the Company. The reserve shall be utilized
for purposes determined by the Ordinary General Meeting in pursuance of recommendations of Board of Directors.
During the year, the shareholders resolved to stop allocation to the general reserve (refer to Note 18 for further details)
and to transfer the accumulated balance to retained earnings.

Investments revaluation reserve
Available for sale
The investments revaluation reserve represents accumulated gains and losses arising on the revaluation of available
for sale ﬁnancial assets, net of amounts reclassiﬁed to consolidated income statement when those assets have been
disposed of or are determined to be impaired.

Other comprehensive income
The investments revaluation reserve represents accumulated gains and losses arising on the revaluation of ﬁnancial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

18.Dividends
Based on the results of the ﬁnancial year ended December 31, 2008, the Board of Directors proposed a cash dividend
of 8% of issued share capital, and also proposed to discontinue the allocation of the 10% of the Company’s annual net
proﬁt to the general reserve and to transfer the general reserve to the retained earnings. These proposals were ratiﬁed by
a resolution of the shareholders during the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting held on April 5, 2009.
In addition to the above, the Board of Directors proposed to discontinue the allocation of the 10% of the Company’s
annual net proﬁt to the special reserve and to transfer the reserve to retained earnings. The proposal was ratiﬁed by a
resolution of the shareholders during the extraordinary annual assembly meeting held on April 5, 2009.
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Year ended December 31
2009
2008
AED’000
AED’000
Return on Islamic investment deposits
Gain on sale of investment
Dividends

85,205
705
5,600
91,510

104,656
130,465
28,093
263,214

Financial Performance
Summary

19.Net investment revenue

Chairman’s
Statement

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

21.Earning per share
Year ended December 31
2009
2008
AED’000
AED’000
Net proﬁt for the year (AED’000)
Authorized share capital (’000)
Less: Treasury shares (’000)
Weighted average number of shares (’000)
Earning per share - AED

346,615

604,971

8,000,000
(54,236)
7,945,764
0.04

8,000,000
(54,236)
7,945,764
0.08

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

44,352
5,100
12,877
2,017
2,015
15,948
82,309

DFM Achievements
in 2009

43,141
5,767
11,326
1,478
18,748
80,460

DFM Performance
in 2009

Payroll and other beneﬁts
Rent
Depreciation
Professional expenses
Bonus
Other

Financial Statements

Year ended December 31
2009
2008
AED’000
AED’000

Strategy and Goals

20.General and administrative expenses
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22.Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash ﬂow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks and
investments in Islamic deposits maturing within three months from the date of the deposits. Cash and cash equivalent
at the end of the ﬁnancial year as shown in the cash ﬂow statement can be reconciled to the related items in the balance
sheet as follows:
December 31
2009
2008
AED’000
AED’000
Cash on hand
Bank balances:
Current accounts
Saving accounts
Mudarabah accounts
Islamic investment deposits maturing in less than 3 months
from the date of deposit (Note 6)

42

28

1,075
2,505
29,840

661
1,401
93,457

305,782

1,010,000

339,244

1,105,547

23.Capital commitments

Commitments for the purchase of property and equipment

2009
AED’000

December 31
2008
AED’000

3,656

2,966

24.Capital risk management
The Company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing the
return to shareholders.

25.Financial instruments
Signiﬁcant accounting policies
Details of the signiﬁcant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of ﬁnancial asset,
ﬁnancial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements.

Financial risk management objectives
The Company ﬁnance department monitors and manages the ﬁnancial risks relating to the operations of the Company
through internal risk reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk
(including currency risk, and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk
The Company’s activities are not exposed to the ﬁnancial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and
interest rates because substantially all the ﬁnancial assets and liabilities are denominated in United Arab Emirates
Dirhams or US Dollars which Dirhams is ﬁxed. The Company complies in all its activities and operations with the
provisions of Islamic Sharia which are not subject to interest rate risk.
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Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in ﬁnancial loss to the
Company. The Company has adopted a policy of only dealing with credit worthy counterparties and obtaining sufﬁcient
collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of ﬁnancial loss from defaults. The Company only transact
with licensed brokers. The credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by the
management.
Although the Company’s credit exposure is to a group of counterparties having similar characteristics and industry, the
credit risk is limited because the counterparties collateralized their debts.
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Company’s short, medium and long-term funding
and liquidity management requirements. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, by
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash ﬂows and by matching the maturity proﬁles of ﬁnancial assets and
liabilities.
The liquidity proﬁle of ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities as at December 31, 2009 were as follows:

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and bank balances
Islamic investment deposits
Other ﬁnancial assets
Due from a related party
Other receivables
Total ﬁnancial assets
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Payables and accrued expenses
Due to a related party
Total ﬁnancial liabilities

Within 3
months
AED'000

3 to 6
months
AED'000

6 to 12
months
AED’000

1 to 5
years
AED'000

Over 5
years
AED’000

Total
AED'000

33,462
305,782
3,914
26,680
369,838

196,895
196,895

979,615
979,615

38,527
1,003,793
1,042,320

-

33,462
1,520,819
1,003,793
3,914
26,680
2,588,668

39,907
48,500
88,407

99,000
99,000

-

-

-

138,907
48,500
187,407

Financial Performance
Summary

• Net proﬁt for the year ended December 31, 2009 would have been unaffected as the equity investments
are classiﬁed as ﬁnancial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.
• Investment revaluation reserves would increase/decrease by AED 58 million (2008: AED 48 million)
as a result of the changes in fair value of the investments.

Strategy and Goals

If equity prices had been 5% higher/lower:

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

Equity price sensitivity analysis

DFM Performance
in 2009

The Company is exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments. Equity investments are held for strategic
rather than trading purposes. The Company does not actively trade in these investments.

Financial Statements

Price risks
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The liquidity proﬁle of ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities as at December 31, 2008 were as follows:

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and bank balances
Islamic investment deposits
Other ﬁnancial assets
Due from a related party
Other receivables
Total ﬁnancial assets
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Payables and accrued expenses
Due to a related party
Total ﬁnancial liabilities

Within 3
months
AED'000

3 to 6
months
AED'000

6 to 12
months
AED’000

1 to 5
years
AED'000

Over 5
years
AED’000

Total
AED'000

95,547
1,010,000
4,551
30,824
1,140,922

301,850
301,850

260,199
260,199

944,366
944,366

-

95,547
1,572,049
944,366
4,551
30,824
2,647,337

47,059
48,500
95,559

-

-

-

-

47,059
48,500
95,559

Fair value of ﬁnancial instruments
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing
parties in an arm’s length transaction. As such, differences can arise between book values and the fair value estimates.
Underlying the deﬁnition of fair value is the presumption that the Company is a going concern without any intention or
requirement to materially curtail the scale of its operation or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms.

Fair value of ﬁnancial instruments carried at amortized cost
The directors consider that the carrying amounts of ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities recognized at amortized cost in
the consolidated ﬁnancial statements approximate their fair values.

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value
The fair values of ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities are determined as follows.
• The fair values of ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid
markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices (includes listed redeemable notes, bills of exchange,
debentures and perpetual notes).
• The fair values of other ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash ﬂow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments.

Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of ﬁnancial position
The following table provides an analysis of ﬁnancial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair
value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.
• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities.
• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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Level 2
AED’000

Level 3
AED’000

December 31, 2009
Total
AED’000

247,310
247,310

642,455
642,455

18,416
95,612
114,028

265,726
738,067
1,003,793

Level 1 includes an amount of AED 99 million which represents investments in a listed company which was valued based
on the last traded price before trading in its shares was suspended on the Dubai Financial Market in November 2008.

Financial Performance
Summary

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Equities
Managed funds
Total

Level 1
AED’000

Chairman’s
Statement

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

26.Classiﬁcation of ﬁnancial assets and liabilities
Reclassiﬁcation of ﬁnancial assets at the date of initial application of IFRS 9
The table below illustrates the classiﬁcation and measurement of ﬁnancial assets under IFRS 9 and IAS 39 at the date of
initial application, December 31, 2009.
Original measurement
category
(under IAS 39)

Investments in listed shares

Available for sale

Investment in unlisted shares

Available for sale

Investment in managed funds

Available for sale

Other ﬁnancial assets
Total

Loans and receivables

New measurement
category
(under IFRS 9)

Financial assets at
FVTOCI
Financial assets at
FVTOCI
Financial assets at
FVTOCI
Financial assets at
amortized cost

Original
New
carrying amount carrying amount
AED’000

AED’000

247,310

247,310

18,416

18,416

738,067

738,067

1,584,875

1,584,875

2,588,668

2,588,668

Macroeconomic Developments
and Market Environment

The investments classiﬁed under level 3 categories have been carried at cost price. Cost is considered to be the best
estimate of fair value as there are no indicators that the cost might not be representative of fair value for such unquoted
equity instruments.

DFM Achievements
in 2009

114,166
(1,842)
1,704
114,028

Opening balance
Disposal during the year
In other comprehensive income - exchange difference
Closing balance

DFM Performance
in 2009

Financial assets at FVTOCI
Unquoted equities 2009
AED’000

Financial Statements

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of ﬁnancial assets

Strategy and Goals

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the year.
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27.Major event during the year
On December, 22 2009, Dubai Financial Market, PJSC (“DFM”) announced that it has made an offer to Borse Dubai Ltd.
(“Borse Dubai”) and The NASDAQ OMX Group Inc. (“NASDAQ OMX”) to acquire 100% of NASDAQ Dubai.
The offer, which has been approved by Borse Dubai and NASDAQ OMX, is valued at USD 121 million (AED 445 million)
and comprises USD 102 million (AED 375 million) in cash and 40 million of DFM shares. The transaction was endorsed
by DFM’s Board of Directors on Monday December 21, 2009 and is subject to certain closing conditions, including the
receipt of regulatory approvals.
On completion of the transaction NASDAQ OMX will become a shareholder of DFM through a minority stake of
1% (equating to 80 million shares, equivalent to USD 41 million). Meanwhile, NASDAQ OMX will continue to allow
NASDAQ Dubai to use its brand and technology. The NASDAQ OMX stake in DFM will not require issuance of new
shares as 40 million shares will be transferred from DFM’s existing treasury shares and an additional 40 million shares
will be purchased from Borse Dubai.
As per the transaction term sheet, the parties agreed that DFM will acquire 100% of the share capital of NASDAQ Dubai
from Borse Dubai and NASDAQ OMX (66.7% and 33.3% shareholding respectively). The total consideration for the
transaction due from DFM will amount to USD 121,304,348 and be paid as follows:
• USD 80.8 million to be paid in cash to Borse Dubai;
• 40 million shares of DFM Company with a value of USD 20 million to be transferred
to Borse Dubai on behalf of NASDAQ OMX; and
• USD 20 million in cash to Borse Dubai against the transfer of 40 million shares from
Borse Dubai stake to NASDAQ OMX.

